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Board of Directors
Jonathan Scott (59)
BSc (Hons), MBA
Independent non-executive chairman
• Member of the audit committee
• Chairman of the remuneration committee
Jonathan has many years of experience in mining, mining finance, banking and corporate finance, and has served on the boards of
a number of JSE listed companies over the years.

Petrus Cilliers (47)
PrEng, BEng (ChemEng), MBA
Managing director
Petrus is a chemical engineer with more than twenty years’ experience in the mining and metallurgical industry both as a consultant
and in a managerial capacity. He has been involved in a wide variety of projects in territories including South Africa, the DRC, Zambia,
America, Australia and the UK.

Christopher Seabrooke (60)
BCom, BAcc, MBA, FCMA
Independent non-executive director
• Chairman of the audit committee
• Member of the remuneration committee
Christopher joined the board in February 2012. Christopher has been a director of over 20 JSE listed companies over the years. He
is currently CEO of Sabvest and a non-executive director of Brait, Datatec, Massmart, Metrofile and Net1. He is also a member of
The Institute of Directors.

Edward Bramley (45)
Non-executive director
• Member of the audit committee
• Member of the remuneration committee
Edward is an experienced mining and exploration professional with international experience in business exploration and management.
Edward is a co-founder of the Chrometco group of companies and has had a long-standing association with the Chrometco group.
Edward has a wealth of experience in the limestone industry, and is also an experienced player in the iron ore market. Edward has
extensive experience in minerals exploration and development in central and southern Africa.

Ivan Collair (59)
BCom (Hons), BSc
Independent non-executive director
• Member of the audit committee
• Member of the remuneration committee
Ivan joined the board in February 2012. Ivan has over 30 years of business experience and is currently the Upstream Government
Relations Advisor for Shell South Africa.

Richard Rossiter (56)
BSc (Hons), MSc.
Independent non-executive director
• Member of the audit committee
• Member of the remuneration committee
Richard began his career as a geologist in the South African gold industry. He subsequently qualified in mine management and
held various production management and business development roles. He then joined the financial sector as a mining analyst and
later was responsible for corporate advisory, mergers, acquisitions, divestments and private equity investments. He then set up a
consultancy and is the former Non-executive Chairman of Sylvania Platinum Limited and the current Executive Chairman of Realm
Resources Limited (ASX listed). He holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons) in Geology from the University of Natal and a MSc in Mineral
Exploration from Rhodes University in South Africa.

Trevor Scott (35)
BCom (Hons), BAcc, CA(SA)
Financial director
Trevor is a specialist in providing IFRS, tax, corporate governance, and other services to both local and offshore listed companies.
He has many years of experience in the disciplines of corporate finance and management.
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NOTE ON INTEGRATED REPORTING
This year marks the third year that Chrometco will present an integrated annual report, in terms of its social, environmental,
economic and financial impact. This is one of the recommendations of the revised King Code and Report on Governance for
South Africa (“King III”) which was published in 2010. Chrometco has worked towards ensuring compliance with King III’s many
guidelines and recommendations. This Integrated Annual Report provides a detailed overview of Chrometco’s operations and
financial performance for the year ended 28 February 2013. The report also describes the company’s mineral prospects and other
development activities. This integrated annual report comprised reporting that examines our operational, sustainability and financial
performance together. The aim of our integrated approach is to enable investors and other stakeholders, including Government,
local communities and our employees, to make a better informed assessment of the value of Chrometco – and our ability to thrive
in the new growth environments of the future.
It should be noted that Chrometco is still a relatively young company with early stage mineral exploration activities, few employees
and a small number of public stakeholders. Accordingly, the size and nature of the company’s operations limits the extent to which
the company has a significant impact on the social and natural environment in which it operates. To the extent possible, Chrometco
remains committed to ensuring that the company operates in a socially responsible manner and remains an upstanding corporate
citizen.
Section 1 of the report addresses the strategy, vision, prospects and an overview of the operational performance of the company.
Section 2 focuses on accountability, compliance and transparency.
Section 3 contains a detailed insight into the company’s financial performance, position and information.
We are engaged in the process of improving our reporting and in future will endeavor to include information that is relevant and
important to a wide range of the group’s stakeholders.
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Chairman’s Review
On behalf of your board of directors, I am pleased to present the chairman’s report for the year ending 28th February 2013.
Chrometco is a mineral exploration company whose primary objective remains the acquisition of interests in mineral rights, to use
its resources to add value to these rights and in this way offer value to its shareholders.

Activities
Conditions in the chrome market were not conducive to any scaling up of mining activities over this reporting period. During this
time the company therefore focussed its efforts on compiling data acquired through the Nkwe transaction and from DCM Chrome
into an improved resource model. The result of this work has been an increase in the fair value of the chrome resources owned by
the company at Rooderand from R184 million to R384 million. In addition progress has been made in terms of section 102 of the
Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act towards the transfer to Chrometco of the Nkwe prospecting right for platinum
group minerals on the Remainder Extent portion of Rooderand. This resource has been valued at R317 million.
Efforts to recover the remaining R10 million owed to the company by DCM Chrome led to the liquidation of the latter company. The
realisation of any value from its residual assets is therefore in the hands of the appointed liquidators.
Although chrome mining remains curtailed at the company’s Rooderand property, efforts have been made to realise value from the
run of mine chrome dumps on the property. Owing to the lean grade of this material, combined with low chrome prices, limited success has been achieved in turning these dumps to a profitable account. The company nevertheless continues to investigate other
opportunities for extracting value from the chrome resource.

Financial performance
While the value of the company’s mining asset has been materially enhanced by the acquisition of additional geological data from
both Nkwe and DCM Chrome, this value enhancement has not translated into an improved operating performance. Costs remain
high owing mainly to additional amortisation arising from the Nkwe transaction as well as ongoing legal and compliance expenses.
Completion of geological work on the Nkwe and DCM Chrome data also contributed significantly to costs. Your board and management are aware that the current situation is not sustainable and will accordingly increase their efforts towards revenue generation
and cost containment during the 2014 financial year.

Changes to the board
Pursuant to the Nkwe transaction we welcomed Richard Rossiter, the managing director of Realm Resources Limited to the board
in November 2013. Richard has wide experience in the junior mining and exploration sector and we have already benefitted from
his insight in this respect. Shortly prior to the publication of this report, Ryan McConnachie was appointed as alternate director to
Richard Rossiter.

Outlook
The outlook for chrome remains uncertain as it is dependent to a large extent on the fortunes of the Chinese economy. The past
practice at Rooderand of selling un-beneficiated chrome ore is not viable in this market, and therefore management’s focus has
shifted towards finding the most efficient manner in which to beneficiate the chrome ore available at Rooderand. Management
expects to embark on a production programme which includes beneficiation of both MG4 and LG6 ore during the course of the
current financial year.

5

CHROMETCO Integrated report 2013

Despite the myriad of difficulties faced by the sector over the past year, the outlook for platinum group metals is favourable. The
platinum rights that the company is in the process of transferring from Nkwe are shallow lying and hence will be relatively cheap
to extract, in contrast to many of the larger platinum miners whose deposits are increasingly being exploited at depth. Rooderand
furthermore is located in the middle of a significant platinum producing region and hence it has a variety of options available to
exploit the Rooderand platinum resource.

Conclusion
Although the environment in which your company operates poses a number of challenges, the board believes that the prospects for
enhancing value remain attractive. The efforts of management and the board over the past few years have resulted in an increase
in the intrinsic value of the company’s assets. The challenge in the current year is to translate this value into a re-rating of the company’s market value through generating a sustainable revenue stream.

J G Scott
Independent non-executive chairman
25 May 2013
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REVIEW
Introduction
Chrometco is an exploration and mining company with an historical focus on chrome exploration and mining in the North West
province of South Africa.
The year under review has involved consolidation of our chrome activities and expansion into platinum group metals (PGMs). All of
this took place in very depressed market conditions, which made chrome sales difficult, but made our PGM acquisition possible.
Our activities were focused on:
•

our Rooderand chrome operations;

•

acquisition of PGMs on a portion of Rooderand; and

•

updating our resource statement.

During the period under review, Chrometco’s share price has traded within a 17c to 32c range.
The group has reported a headline loss per share of 5.92 cents compared with a headline loss per share of 9.01 cents in the
previous period. The reduction in the loss per share flowed from once-off tax charges incurred in the 2012 year, a consequence of
shareholders voting down the conditional disposal of Rooderand to DCM Chrome.
The group’s financial position continues to remains solid at year-end; our net asset value per share was 87.47 cents.

Financial performance overview
The group incurred a comprehensive loss for the year of R11.3 million compared with a profit of R98.4 million in the prior period.
The significant difference was due to the financial effects of recognising the accounting effect of the termination of the mining and
management agreement with DCM Chrome in the prior year. Additionally, the group incurred additional expenditure during the year
relating to non-cash amortisation charges of R6.4 million on acquired intangible assets, including the group’s new order mining
rights.

Operational overview
This was the first year that Chrometco had Rooderand under its control, after the DCM mining and management period.
The market for chrome ore remained very soft. Activities were focused on selling the stockpiled ore, developing a mining plan and
investigating value-added products to make mining more profitable.
The possibility of establishing a wash plant at Rooderand also received attention. This will make possible value-added product, for
which there are more stable and attractive markets. Transporting ore to an existing facility is not feasible.
The work done over the period under review has laid the foundation for an updated mining plan and a possible new processing
plant, which we plan to roll into action in the current year.

Corporate activity overview
In November 2012, Chrometco shareholders approved the acquisition from Nkwe and Realm Resources of the PGMs and base
metals over the ‘remainder portion’ of Rooderand for a total consideration of 90 million new Chrometco shares. Phase 1 of the
acquisition – which saw Chrometco acquire all of the geological data on Rooderand – is complete. Phase 2 is awaiting approval
from the Department of Mineral Resources.
This move to expand into the PGM arena is very exciting. Chrometco plans to use co-occurrence of chrome and PGMs on
Rooderand, and the synergies that exist between the two, to develop a much more robust and profitable mining venture. Rooderand
has significant outcrop Merensky and UG2 ore and is in close proximity to other PGM miners. This makes it a very attractive asset.
During the year, Chrometco called a general meeting for shareholders to consider the company’s new Memorandum of Incorporation
(MOI), resulting in its approval.
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Exploration overview
As part of the Nkwe/Realm acquisition, Chrometco acquired 27 historical boreholes. These boreholes were done for PGMs and
little attention was given at the time to the chrome seams. Chrometco had the boreholes re-logged and sampled all the chrome
intersections.
Chrometco also acquired all the historical drill data from DCM which, combined with the Nkwe/ Realm Resources data, enabled
Chrometco to update the resource statement for Rooderand. This, in turn, made it possible to update the valuation of the asset.
Once the DMR approves the last phase of the Nkwe/Realm Resources transaction, the intention is to repeat with PGMs what
was done with chrome, and, additionally, to pool all the available information to update the PGM resource model. The strategy of
acquiring geological data was highly beneficial, saving both time and money, and has had a significantly positive impact on the
resource model.

Outlook
Market conditions have been very depressed and, due to the current buyback of electricity in South Africa, Chrometco has had to
focus on the chrome export market, which was equally soft. Towards the end of the year under review, it looked as if the market
was starting to recover, and there has been a lot more interest in chrome ore.
While the PGM markets are well off their peaks, they look stable. Downward pressure on production as deep shafts close down
suggests that the existing supply shortfall will result in an upward turn in the metal prices. This, combined with our objective to be
a low-cost, open-pit operation, is very encouraging. Historically, the PGM market has been much stronger and more stable than
the chrome market.
These factors should help us strengthen Chrometco’s position as an exciting, emerging mining company.

P J Cilliers
Managing director
25 May 2013
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MINERAL RESOURCES AND
RESERVES STATEMENT
Mineral resources
Historical
In 2005, Chrometco hired Mr NA Bleeker to complete an estimate of mineral resources. Using an average Cr2O3 grade of 45.50%,
Inferred Mineral Resource estimates were calculated within the Rooderand 46JQ Portion 2 only. These are presented with no
geological losses (first table below), and with 15% geological losses (second table below).

2005 Inferred Mineral Resources in Portion 2: No geological losses
Unit

Dip

SG

Width
(cm)

LG6

14°

4.25

77.00

5 290 000

22 470 000

10 223 850

LG5

14°

4.05

94.00

6 210 000

25 160 000

11 447 800

MG4A

14°

3.75

97.00

4 660 000

17 490 000

7 957 950

16 160 000

65 120 000

29 629 600

Volume
Tonnes
(m3) (without losses)

Cr2O3 content
(tonnes)

Total

Volume
Tonnes
(m3) (without losses)

Cr2O3 content
(tonnes)

2005 Inferred Mineral Resources in Portion 2: With geological losses
Unit

Dip

SG

Width
(cm)

LG6

14°

4.25

77.00

5 290 000

19 100 000

8 690 500

LG5

14°

4.05

94.00

6 210 000

21 390 000

9 732 450

MG4A

14°

3.75

97.00

4 660 000

14 890 000

6 774 950

16 160 000

55 380 000

25 197 900

Total

Mineral corporation
In late 2008, DCM hired Mineral Corporation to manage an exploration programme which entailed the drilling of 25 surface drillholes.
The results from this programme were used to define SAMREC compliant mineral resource estimates. These are presented
for Indicated Mineral Resources (first table below) and for Inferred Mineral Resources (second table below) and only represent
approximately 25% of the total tenement area held by Chrometco. Geological losses of 20% to 30% have been applied on a blockby-block basis.

2008 Indicated Mineral Resources in Portion 2
Source

Open Pit Underground

Total

Unit

Tonnes

Grade
Cr2O3 (%)

Cr2O3 content
(tonnes)

LG5, LG6, LG7, MG2, MG3,
MG4

2 008 958

37.10

745 244

6 662 671

39.42

2 626 098

8 671 629

39.00

3 371 342
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2008 Inferred Mineral Resources in Portion 2
Source

Unit

Tonnes

Grade Cr2O3
(%)

Cr2O3 content
(tonnes)

Open Pit

MG2

213 764

35.36

75 587

213 764

35.36

75 587

Total

2010 review – Bleeker
In 2010, Bleeker was approached by the directors of Chrometco to re-evaluate the potential mineral resources within Portion 2 and
the remainder extent of Rooderand 46JQ farm. The Mineral Corporation only reported on a selected area which only represents
about 25% of the tenement area, and only utilised exploration drilling results as undertaken by DCM Chrome. However, in this
recalculation, Bleeker utilised available drilling and geological information obtained from Chrometco, DCM Chrome, Nkwe Platinum
(Pty) Ltd (Nkwe) and Anglo Platinum Limited (Anglo). Drilling information from Nkwe and Anglo only reported intersections on
economic platinum bearing layers. MG chromitite layers were intersected in some of Nkwe exploration holes. The average thickness
between LG6 chromitite and UG2 chromitite layers is approximately 230m.
Only three stratigraphically delineated chromitite layers (i.e. LG5, LG6 and MG4) were first selected in the recalculation of potential
mineral resource estimation and these are shown without (first table below) and with 15% geological losses (second table below) in
and, respectively, using an average Cr2O3 grade of 45.5%.

Inferred Mineral Resources in Portion 2: No geological losses
SG

Width
(cm)

Tonnes
(without losses)

Cr2O3 content
(tonnes)

LG6

4.25

77.00

31 700 000

14 423 500

LG5

4.05

94.00

25 600 000

11 648 000

MG4A

3.75

97.00

25 200 000

11 466 000

82 500 000

37 537 500

Unit

Total

Inferred Mineral Resources in Portion 2: With geological losses
Unit

SG

Width
(cm)

Tonnes
(without losses)

Cr2O3 content
(tonnes)

LG6

4.25

77.00

27 000 000

12 285 000

LG5

4.05

94.00

21 800 000

9 919 000

MG4A

3.75

97.00

21 400 000

9 737 000

70 200 000

31 941 000

Total
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Current
Pursuant to the acquisition of the geological data and drill core from DCM (in July 2012) and Nkwe Platinum (in November 2012),
Chrometco approached IRES with a view to updating the SAMREC compliant resource and reserves statement applicable to
Portion 2 and the remainder extent of Rooderand 46JQ based on the geological information acquired.
The analysis and review of the acquired information resulted in a significant increase in previously estimated chromite resources at
Rooderand; which can be represented by the table below:

Total Mineral Resources

– No Geological Losses
Indicated

Reef

Tonnes

Inferred

Grade

Cr2O3

%Cr2O3

Tonnes

Tonnes

Grade

Cr2O3

%Cr2O3

Tonnes

MG4

13 784 289

35.13%

4 841 967

8 051 365

35.42%

2 852 056

MG3

9 702 251

36.70%

3 560 770

3 207 573

39.91%

1 280 061

MG2

6 089 496

33.54%

2 042 679

2 770 211

33.11%

917 116

LG7

3 412 625

35.07%

1 196 770

2 264 465

34.28%

776 157

LG6

8 349 222

39.93%

3 334 138

4 158 549

37.68%

1 566 810

LG5

4 856 232

37.07%

1 800 025

2 911 724

35.55%

1 035 003

Total

46 194 115

36.32%

16 776 349

23 363 887

36.07%

8 427 203

Total Mineral Resources

– 20% Fault Loss Applied
Indicated

Reef

Tonnes

Inferred

Grade

Cr2O3

%Cr2O3

Tonnes

Tonnes

Grade

Cr2O3

%Cr2O3

Tonnes

MG4

11 027 431

35.13%

3 873 574

6 441 092

35.42%

2 281 644

MG3

7 761 801

36.70%

2 848 616

2 566 058

39.91%

1 024 048

MG2

4 871 597

33.54%

1 634 143

2 216 169

33.11%

733 693

LG7

2 730 100

35.07%

957 416

1 811 572

34.28%

620 926

LG6

6 679 378

39.93%

2 667 311

3 326 839

37.68%

1 253 448

LG5

3 884 985

37.07%

1 440 020

2 329 379

35.55%

828 002

Total

36 955 292

36.32%

13 421 080

18 691 109

36.07%

6 741 761
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The open pit resource can be represented as follows:
Split Between Open Pit and Underground Resources – No Geological Losses
Open Pit (40m) – Indicated Only
Underground – Indicated Only
Indicated
Reef

Tonnes

Inferred

Grade

Cr2O3

%Cr2O3

Tonnes

Tonnes

Grade

Cr2O3

%Cr2O3

Tonnes

MG4

2 353 402

35.13%

826 673

11 430 887

35.13%

4 015 295

MG3

1 606 598

36.70%

589 629

8 095 653

36.70%

2 971 141

MG2

1 008 361

33.54%

338 248

5 081 135

33.54%

1 704 431

LG7

607 973

35.07%

213 209

2 804 652

35.07%

983 561

LG6

1 545 233

39.93%

617 066

6 803 989

39.93%

2 717 072

LG5

817 324

37.07%

302 952

4 038 908

37.07%

1 497 073

Total

7 938 891

36.38%

2 887 777

38 255 224

36.31%

13 888 573

Split Between Open Pit and Underground Resources – 20% Fault Loss
Open Pit (40m) – Indicated Only

Underground – Indicated Only

Indicated
Reef

Tonnes

Inferred

Grade

Cr2O3

%Cr2O3

Tonnes

Tonnes

Grade

Cr2O3

%Cr2O3

Tonnes

MG4

1 882 721

35.13%

661 338

9 144 709

35.13%

3 212 236

MG3

1 285 278

36.70%

471 703

6 476 523

36.70%

2 376 913

MG2

806 689

33.54%

270 598

4 064 908

33.54%

1 363 545

LG7

486 378

35.07%

170 567

2 243 722

35.07%

786 848

LG6

1 236 187

39.93%

493 653

5 443 191

39.93%

2 173 658

LG5

653 859

37.07%

242 361

3 231 126

37.07%

1 197 658

Total

6 351 112

36.38%

2 310 220

30 604 179

36.31%

11 110 858

Summary
The exploration activity (comprising the acquisition, analysis and review of the geological information acquired from DCM and Nkwe)
for the period under review has resulted in a significant increase in the known resource estimate at Rooderand.

Mineral asset valuation
Venmyn Rand (Pty) Ltd (“Venmyn”) was commissioned by Chrometco Limited to perform an independent valuation of the Rooderand
Project at 28 February 2013.
The valuation was compiled in accordance with the reporting and assessment criteria stipulated for Mineral Asset Valuations in the
SAMVAL Code.
Venmyn is an independent advisory company. Its consultants have extensive experience in preparing competent persons’, technical
advisors’ and valuation reports for mining and exploration companies. Venmyn’s advisors have, collectively, more than 100 years
of experience in the assessment and evaluation of mining projects and are members in good standing of appropriate professional
institutions.
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Venmyn’s reports have been accepted by the Johannesburg, London, Toronto, New York, Hong Kong and Australian securities
exchanges together with Securities Regulation Panels in all these jurisdictions. Their personnel are also members of the various
regulatory bodies in South Africa that enable them to report to the SAMREC/SAMVAL Code under the auspices of the South African
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (SAIMM).
The valuation of the chrome resource at the Rooderand project was performed in accordance with the SAMVAL code and is based
on the market valuation approach (in reference to a database of mineral asset values used in the construction of Venmyn’s valuation
curves). Venmyn relied on the SAMREC compliant resource statement as set out above(prepared by IRES).
The in-situ resource value range for the Cr2O3 content at an indicated mineral resource classification was estimated between
R16.94/tonne and R33.89/tonne, and R6.35/tonne and R8.47/tonne for the Cr2O3 content at an inferred mineral resource
classification. Based on this and the resource table, Venmyn determined:
•

a “fair” (attributable) value for the project of R383.99m; and

•

an upper and lower value of R511.98m and R255.99m, respectively.

The valuation can be represented in the following table:

Indicated
Inferred
Total

Cr2O3
CONTENT (Mt)

“FAIR”
(ZA Rm)

LOWER
(ZA Rm)

UPPER
(ZA Rm)

13.42

341.15

227.43

454.86

6.74

42.84

28.56

57.12

20.16

383.99

255.99

511.98

The valuation table above represents the value of the Rooderand projects in-situ resources after applying a discount relating to the
beneficiation premium that would have been included in the valuation in the event that the Rooderand project included smelting
operations. The table below summarises the valuation results of the Chrome resource including a beneficiation premium that would
be applicable if smelting operations were embedded in the project

Indicated
Inferred
Total

Cr2O3
CONTENT
(Mt)

MID
(ZAR/t)

LOWER
(ZAR/t)

UPPER
(ZAR/t)

FAIR
(ZARm)

LOWER
(ZARm)

UPPER
(ZARm)

13.42

60.00

40.00

80.00

805.26

536.84

1,073.69

6.74

15.00

10.00

20.00

101.13

67.42

134.84

20.16

44.95

29.97

59.94

906.39

604.26

1,208.52

It should be noted that the above mineral resource statement does not include PGE resources and reserves at Rooderand; which
are the subject of the still to be completed Nkwe acquisition. Additionally, Venmyn indicated that the fair value of the in-situ PGE
resources subject to Nkwe acquisition to be approximately R 317.234 m.
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Corporate Governance
Corporate governance statement
As a company listed on the JSE Limited (JSE) Alternative Exchange, the minimum standards against which Chrometco is managed
are those prescribed by the JSE Listings Requirements and the King Report on Governance for South Africa 2009 (King III). The
responsibility for managing the group’s affairs rests with the board and all directors are required to maintain the highest standards
of integrity to ensure that Chrometco’s business affairs are conducted responsibly and in the interests of both the group and its
stakeholders. The board and individual directors accept their duty and responsibility to ensure that the principles set out in King
III are observed and are committed to the highest level of corporate governance and the implementation of effective structures,
policies and practices that improve corporate governance and create sustainable value for our shareholders and other stakeholders.
Both the board and the individual directors support embedding best governance principles and practices throughout the group.
The board of directors continue to subscribe to the values of good corporate governance as set out in King III and are committed to
the application of corporate governance best practices in the conduct of the group’s business. There is commitment, going forward,
to comply with the provisions of King III. While the board is of the opinion that the group complies in all material respects with the
principles embodied in King III and the additional requirements for corporate governance stipulated by the JSE, where specific
principles have not been applied, explanations for these are contained within the integrated annual report.
Disclosure in this integrated annual report demonstrates the group’s commitment to comply with the principles of King III, as well
as the actual compliance achieved. The board is equally committed to apply the principles of King III, which came into effect on
1 March 2010. During the year under review, the board and specifically the members of the audit and compliance committees,
performed an internally facilitated assessment of the group’s compliance with the provisions of King III and the Companies Act
of South Africa. Areas which require further focus will be addressed during the current year and compliance with King III will be
reported on in detail in the 2013/2014 integrated annual report.
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Board accountability and authority
The general powers of the directors of Chrometco are conferred either by the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation or by
the Companies Act of South Africa, as amended, or in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements. The board has adopted a charter
through which it controls and monitors the group’s business. The charter outlines the following major responsibilities:
•

determining the strategic direction of the group;

•

retaining full and effective control of the group and monitoring the management’s implementation of board plans and
strategies;

•

identification and monitoring of key risk areas to ensure the integrity of managing risk and internal control;

•

appointing directors in terms of the group’s policy and procedures;

•

appointing a managing director and financial director;

•

establishing a framework for delegation of authority and responsibilities to the executive directors;

•

managing conflicts of interest;

•

cultivating an ethical corporate culture;

•

maintaining succession plans at executive level; and

•

any other matters that have a material impact on the group’s affairs.

While retaining overall accountability and subject to matters reserved for the board, the board has delegated authority to run the
day-to-day affairs of the group to the executive directors.
Audit, risk, nomination and remuneration committees assist the board in discharging its duties and responsibilities. All committees
act under their respective terms of reference, through which certain functions of the board are assigned with defined purposes,
membership requirements, duties and reporting procedures. They are required to carry out self-evaluations at least annually. The
board believes that the evaluation of performance should currently be performed in-house. Board committees are also required to
be reviewed by the board. Board committees may take independent professional advice at the group’s expense, when necessary.
Chairmen of the board committees, or their representatives, are required to attend annual general meetings to answer shareholders’
questions.

Board composition
The names and brief résumé of the directors in office appear on page 3 of this integrated annual report.
There are integrated procedures for appointments to the board. All appointments are formal and transparent, and a matter for the
board as a whole, assisted by the remuneration and nomination committee.
At 28 February 2013, the board had a unitary structure that comprised seven members, four of whom are independent nonexecutive directors (including the chairman), one is a non-executive director, and the remaining two are executive directors. The
majority of directors (5) are non-executive directors, of whom a majority (4) are independent. The independent non-executive
directors meet the test of independence as embodied in King III and in the JSE Listings Requirements. All non-executive directors
are individuals of high caliber and make a significant contribution to the board’s deliberations. Accordingly, the company does have
a majority of independent non-executive directors.
The executive directors have overall responsibility for implementing the group’s strategy; which is determined by the board.
Directors are apprised, whenever relevant, of any new legislation and changing commercial risks that may affect the affairs of the
company.
Non-executive directors do not hold service contracts with the company. The executive directors do not have fixed term service
contracts with the company. The board meets at least quarterly to discuss and review issues of strategy, planning, operational
and financial performance, stakeholder communications and other material matters reserved for its decision. Further operational
meetings are held as required. An agenda, the minutes of the previous meeting and supporting papers are distributed to all directors
prior to each board meeting, giving them sufficient time to consider matters for discussion.
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Where directors are unable to attend board meetings for any reason, every effort is made to obtain and communicate to the meeting
their comments on agenda items, as well as general items. Explanations and motivations for items of business requiring decisions
are given in the meeting, ensuring that all the relevant facts and circumstances are brought to the attention of directors. Directors
have unrestricted access to all group property and records and are kept fully informed of progress on matters between formal
meetings by way of ad hoc meetings and regular communications. Directors also have unrestricted access to the group secretary
for advice and information.
Executive directors’ service contracts are currently under review and shareholders will be notified in a future announcement as to
the results of this process.

Attendance at board meetings
Non-executive directors are available to management at all times when required and did attend several non-board meetings during
the year. During the review period (1 February 2011 to 8 May 2012), the board met formally four times, with the group’s designated
advisor and secretary present.
Meetings held during
time in office

Number of
meetings attended

J G Scott** (chairman)

4

3

P J Cilliers

4

4

C S Seabrooke**

4

4

E Bramley*

4

4

R Rossiter**

2

2

I W S Collair**

4

3

T W Scott

4

4

Director

* Denotes non-executive
** Denotes independent non-executive

Board changes
The following changes to the board took place during the year under review:
•

R Rossiter – appointed as an independent non-executive director in November 2012

Chairman and managing director
The role of chairman and managing director remains separate and distinct. The chairman is responsible for running the board, while
the managing director is responsible for conducting the affairs of the group. Consequently, no one individual at board level has
unfettered powers of decision-making. During the review period and at the date of this report, the chairman can be considered an
independent non-executive director as embodied in the King Code and JSE Listings Requirements.

Board committees
Audit, nomination, risk and remuneration committees have been constituted to assist the board in the discharge of its duties and
responsibilities. All committees act within their respective terms of reference, under which certain functions of the board are assigned
with defined purposes, membership requirements, duties and reporting procedures. They are required to carry out self-evaluations
of their performance at least annually. Board committees are also required to be reviewed by the board. Board committees may
take independent professional advice at the company’s expense when necessary. Chairmen of the board committees, or their
representatives, are required to attend all general meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders. The board is satisfied
that the board committees set out below have effectively discharged their responsibilities as contained in their respective terms
of reference for the year under review. A description of each board committee, and details of attendance and membership of the
committees is set out below:
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Audit Committee
Number of meetings
held/attended

Director

J G Scott*

Independent non-executive director

2/2

C S Seabrooke** (chairman)

Independent non-executive director

2/2

E Bramley

Non-executive director

2/2

R Rossiter

Independent Non-executive director

1/1

I W S Collair

Independent non-executive director

1/2

* was chairman until 25 April 2012
**appointed chairman 23 April 2012

The primary role of the Audit Committee is to ensure the integrity of financial reporting and the audit process. A full report of the
committee is set out on page 30. The committee, which must have a minimum of three members, consists exclusively of nonexecutive directors and has a majority of independent non-executive directors. The committee meets at least twice each year
with the quorum being two members. The board has determined that the chairman has the skills, qualifications and experience
necessary to contribute meaningfully to the committee’s deliberations. The managing director, financial director and the external
auditors attend meetings by invitation. The group’s designated advisor is also required to attend meetings of this committee. Each
member has one vote and the chairman has no casting vote. The terms of the audit and corporate governance committee are
reviewed annually. The King Code recommends that the chairman of the board should not be a member of the Audit Committee.
Due to the fact that the board only consisted of six members for a substantial portion of the year under review and that there
were only four non-executives on the board during that period, Mr J G Scott was historically required to become a member of the
Audit Committee. Additionally, section 94 of the Companies Act of South Africa and the King Code recommends that the Audit
Committee consists of at least three members. The Audit Committee obtains at its discretion, the services of advisors, experts and
specialists in order for it to appropriately consider all matters presented to it and to assist the committee in executing its duties.
The Audit Committee’s duties mainly include:
•

the group’s relationship with the external auditors;

•

approval of all non-audit services to be provided by the external auditors;

•

presentation of financial statements and reports complying with all relevant corporate disclosure requirements and
accounting standards;

•

reviewing any other announcement on the group’s results or other financial information;

•

the identification of exposure to significant risks;

•

all corporate governance issues;

•

operating adequate processes of internal control;

•

approval of fees payable to external auditors for audit and non audit services; and

•

approving the appointment of the financial director and satisfying itself as to his/her competence on an annual basis.

In addition, the committee considers any matters referred to it by the board. The chairman of the committee reports to the board
on its recommendations.
Members complete a self-evaluation analysis of the committee’s performance during the year. The board will determine at its next
meeting whether the Audit Committee has satisfied its responsibilities for the review period in compliance with its terms of reference.
The board is of the opinion that the external auditors observe the highest level of business and professional ethics and that their
independence is not in any way impaired.
The Audit Committee met four times during the year under review.
The Audit Committee has satisfied itself as to the competence of the financial director during the current financial year.
The chairman of the committee attends the AGM annually to address any questions that may be raise by shareholders and other
stakeholders.
The Audit Committee has satisfied itself as to the competence of the financial director during the current financial year.
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The chairman of the committee attends the AGM annually to address any questions that may be raise by shareholders and other
stakeholders.

Remuneration and nominations committee
Number of meetings
held/attended

Director

J G Scott (chairman)

Independent non-executive director

1/1

C S Seabrooke

Independent non-executive director

1/1

E Bramley

Non-executive director

1/1

R Rossiter

Independent Non-executive director

0/0

I W S Collair

Independent non-executive director

0/1

The remuneration and nominations committee, which must have a minimum of two members, comprises five non-executive
directors, with one being independent. The remuneration and nominations committee must meet at least twice per year. The
remuneration and nominations committee only met once during the year under review due to fact that the remuneration and
nominations committee did not consider it necessary to meet again. The financial director and managing director do not attend
remuneration and nominations committee meetings. Neither of them, nor any other senior executive, may be present at meetings of
the committee when remuneration issues applicable to them are discussed or considered. A quorum for a meeting is two members
present in person. Each member has one vote and the chairman has no casting vote. The terms of reference of the remuneration
and nominations committee are reviewed annually.
The areas of responsibility of the committee are an annual review of:
•

the salary package payable to any executive director and the company secretary;

•

the remuneration payable to directors and board committee members of the company;

•

the remuneration payable to non-executive directors for services provided other than as a director;

•

the company’s compliance with employment equity requirements;

•

the company’s share incentive scheme;

•

identifying and nominating fit and proper candidates for approval of the board as additional directors or to fill any board
vacancies as they arise; and

•

the group’s compliance with employment equity requirements.

The chairman of the committee reports to the board on recommendations made by the committee. The committee also advises
the board on succession planning. The chairman of the committee attends the AGM annually to address any questions that may
be raised by shareholders and other stakeholders. In terms of King 3, the chairman of the board may not be the chairman of
the remuneration committee. During the year under review, the chairman of the board also held the position of chairman of the
remuneration committee for operational reasons. The company will seek to appoint one of the independent non-executive directors
as chairman of the remuneration committee during the 2013/2014 year in order to comply with the requirements of King 3.
The members of the committee will complete a self-evaluation analysis of the committee’s performance during the year. The board
will determine at a future meeting whether the remuneration committee has satisfied its responsibilities for the year under review in
compliance with its terms of reference.
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Risk committee
Number of meetings
held / attended

Director

J G Scott (chairman)

Independent non-executive director

2/2

C S Seabrooke

Independent non-executive director

2/2

I W S Collair

Independent non-executive director

1/2

R Rossiter

Independent non-executive director

0/0

E Bramley

Non-executive director

2/2

P J Cilliers

Executive director

2/2

T W Scott

Executive director

2/2

The risk committee comprises the independent non-executive chairman, the independent non-executive directors, the nonexecutive director and both of the executive directors. The risk committee handles any matter referred to it by the board. The risk
committee met twice during the year under review. The meeting was attended by all the directors named on page 3 of the integrated
annual report, with the exception of Mr Rossiter who was appointed subsequent to the meeting of the risk committee.

Social and ethics committee
Number of meetings
held / attended

Director

E Bramley (chairman)

Non-executive director

1/1

J G Scott

Independent non-executive director

1/1

P J Cilliers

Executive director

1/1

T W Scott

Executive director

1/1

The social and ethics committee reviews and manages the company’s commitment to:
•

social and economic development, including the principles of the UN Global Compact, Broad-based Black Economic
Empowerment, Employment Equity and the OECD’s recommendations on corruption;

•

good corporate citizenship, including the promotion of equality, prevention of unfair discrimination, corporate social
responsibility, ethical behaviour and managing environmental impacts;

•

consumer relations;

•

labour and employment, including skills development; and

•

transformation by, at the very least, ensuring compliance with the Employment Equity Act, the Mining Charter and the
BBBEE Codes of Good Practice.

The social and ethics committee meets once per annum in accordance with its terms of reference.
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Directors’ remuneration
Composition of executive directors’ remuneration
Basic salary
Where the remuneration committee determines that the composition of directors’ remuneration requires re-assessment, executive
directors’ salaries are reviewed annually by the remuneration committee and benchmarked against external market data considering
the size and complexity of the group and its operations. Individual performance and overall responsibility are also considered. The
chairman reviews the performance of the executive managing director annually.

Long-term incentive plan
The company has an approved plan in place. At year-end, no awards had been issued under the plan. The plan is a cash-settled
incentive scheme.

Annual performance bonus
The executive directors do not participate in a formal annual performance bonus scheme.

Non-executive directors’ emoluments
Where the remuneration committee feels that it is necessary, the remuneration and fees of non-executive directors are reviewed
annually to ensure that they remain competitive and that they attract individuals of appropriate reputation and experience to the
board. Shareholders are required to approve the remuneration of non-executive directors in advance at a general meeting of the
company.

Board committee fees
The remuneration of board committee members is determined by the board, as provided in the Memorandum of Incorporation. For
the financial year to 28 February 2013, the following rates of fees were applicable:
Board meeting
Members: R8 000 per meeting
Audit Committee
Members: R4 000 per meeting
Remuneration and nomination committee
Members: R4 000 per meeting
Risk committee
Members: R nil per meeting
Social and ethics committee
Members: R nil per meeting
Fees for services rendered other than as a director
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, non-executive directors who perform services outside the scope of the ordinary
duties of a director may be paid additional remuneration. Such duties have historically often been required to be rendered by the
non-executive directors. In lieu of services rendered, non-executive directors who regularly perform additional services accrue fees
at a rate of R1 000 per hour.
The rates above have been proposed to shareholders for approval for the 2013/2014 financial year.
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The group company secretary
The appointment and removal of the group company secretary is a matter for the board as a whole. The company secretary is a
central source of information and advice to the board and within the company on matters of ethics and good governance.
The group secretary’s functions include the following:
•

Providing the directors, collectively and individually, with detailed guidance on their duties, responsibilities and powers;

•

Providing information on all laws, legislation, regulations and matters of ethics and good corporate governance relevant to
or affecting the group;

•

Making certain that all statutory requirements are complied with;

•

Ensuring that the minutes of all shareholders’ meetings, directors’ meetings, board committee meetings, as well as meetings
of management, are properly recorded;

•

Administering closed periods for dealing in the group’s shares; and

•

Managing the induction of new directors.

The board of directors has considered and satisfied itself during the year under review and at the date of this report regarding the
competence, qualifications and experience of the company secretary. In reaching this conculsion, the board undertook an annual
assessment of the company secretary’s performance for the past year, as well as his qualifications and experience. The company
secretary maintains an arms-length relationship with the board of directors. While the company secretary is a juristic entity, the board
of directors has considered the individual performing the company secretary role in its annual assessment of the company secretary,
as well as the directors and shareholders of the juristic entity appointed to the position of group company secretary.

Annual financial statements
The directors are required by the South African Companies Act to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the
preparation of the annual financial statements and related financial information of the company and group at the end of the financial
year, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.
The external auditors, RSM Betty & Dickson (Johannesburg), are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the annual
financial statements in conformity with International Standards on Auditing and the Companies Act. Their unqualified report appears
on page 24.

Risk management and internal control
The board has ultimate responsibility for the total process of risk management and its effectiveness within the group. Management
is accountable to the board and has established internal controls to manage significant group risk. This assists the board in
discharging its responsibility for ensuring that the range of risks associated with its operations are effectively managed in support of
the creation and preservation of shareholder value.
In view of the limited extent of the nature of the group’s business, the board considers it unnecessary to operate an internal audit
function.
Regular management reports, which provide a balanced assessment of key risks, are an important component of board assurance.
The board is satisfied that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the
group.

IT governance
Due to the size of the company, and the nature of its operations, reliance and dependence on IT systems is insignificant. For this
reason, the board has no formal policy regarding IT governance. The board will revise this assessment in the future in the event that
there is a change in the circumstances described above.
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Dealing in securities
The group has a policy in place to restrict the dealing in its securities by directors, employees or other designated persons.
No employee may deal, either directly or indirectly, in the group’s ordinary shares on the basis of unpublished price-sensitive
information regarding its business or affairs. No director, company secretary, officer or other employee of the group or designated
person may trade in the group’s shares during a closed period as determined by the board in accordance with the JSE Listings
Requirements. A list of persons who are restricted for this purpose has been approved by the board and is revised from time to
time. A register of directors, company secretary and officers is available for inspection at the company secretary’s registered office
at 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg.

Corporate social responsibility and sustainability
As a relatively young company, the group has not yet established a corporate social responsibility and sustainability policy, but
endeavours to be a responsible corporate citizen in all its dealings with stakeholders.

Group ethics
The group is committed to the highest standards of professionalism and organisational integrity, as well as ethical and legal conduct
in business dealings with stakeholders. A revised code of business conduct has been developed and implemented by the group,
which outlines the ethical and professional management that Chrometco upholds.

Communication
Chrometco subscribes to a policy of full, accurate and consistent communication in respect of both its financial and operating
affairs. The group regularly communicates with major shareholders, institutional investors, analysts and the media.
Chrometco encourages its shareholders to attend the group’s general meetings, which provide opportunities for shareholders to ask
questions of the board, including the chairmen of the two standing committees of the board, or their representatives.
Shareholders are informed at annual general meetings of the results of voting, in person and by proxy, in respect of all ordinary and
special resolutions proposed at such meetings.
The group’s website address is www.chrometco.co.za

Designated advisor
Sasfin Capital (a division of Sasfin Bank Limited) acts as Designated Advisor to the group in compliance with the JSE Listings
Requirements.
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Directors’ Responsibility for the
Annual Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements of the company and the group
annual financial statements, comprising the directors’ report, statements of financial position at 28 February 2013, the statements of
comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the year then ended and the notes to the financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting
Pronouncements as issued by Financial Reporting Standards Council and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.
The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and for maintaining adequate accounting
records and an effective system of risk management.
The directors have made an assessment of the company and its subsidiaries’ ability to continue as going concerns and have no
reason to believe that the businesses will not be going concerns in the year ahead.
The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the company annual financial statements and group annual financial statements
are fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.
The annual financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2013 set out on pages 25 to 67 were approved by the board of
directors on 25 May 2013 and are signed on its behalf by:

J G Scott 					
Chairman 					

P J Cilliers
Managing Director

Declaration by company secretary
In my capacity as company secretary, I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the company has lodged with
the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as are required to be lodged by a public company in terms of
section 88 (2)(e) of the Companies Act of South Africa, and that all such returns appear to be true, correct and up to date.

R Samodien
CIS Company Secretaries (Pty) Ltd
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Report of the Independent Auditors
To the shareholders of Chrometco Limited
We have audited the consolidated and separate annual financial statements of Chrometco Limited which comprise the statements
of financial position as at 28 February 2013, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and
statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information, as set out on pages 32 to 67.

Directors’ responsibility for the annual financial statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate annual financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the
Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by Financial Reporting Standards Council,
and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of annual financial statements, that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud
or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate annual financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the annual financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the annual financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and
separate financial position of Chrometco Limited as at 28 February 2013, and its consolidated and separate financial performance
and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements
as issued by Financial Reporting Standards Council and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

Other Reports Required by the Companies Act of South Africa
As part of our audit of the annual financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2013, we have read the Declaration by
the Company Secretary, Directors’ Report, Report by the Audit Committee and the Report by the Social and Ethics Committee
for the purpose of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited annual financial
statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified
material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited annual financial statements. However, we have not audited these
reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

RSM Betty & Dickson (Johannesburg)
Registered Auditors
Per: John Jones CA(SA), RA Partner
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Directors’ Report
The board of directors has pleasure in presenting their report for the year ended 28 February 2013.

Nature of business
Chrometco Limited (Chrometco or the company) is primarily involved in the exploration of mineral resources projects and the
possible beneficiation thereof.
The company has the right of use of new order mining rights for chrome on Portion 2 of the farm Rooderand and the remainder
thereof. The new order mining right is held by Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, a subsidiary of Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd.
Chrometco entered into a conditional sale of shares agreement with DCM Chrome SA (Pty) Ltd (DCM) in 2007, in terms of which
the company would sell its Rooderand assets (held through its subsidiary companies) to DCM for a total consideration of R62
million subject to, amongst other conditions precedent, shareholder approval. In July 2011, the conditional sale was presented to
shareholders at a general meeting of the company. Shareholders did not approve the sale of the Rooderand assets to DCM for R62
million and, accordingly, the conditions precedent to the sale of shares agreement were not met.
In terms of a mining and management agreement entered into in 2007 with DCM, pursuant to which DCM was currently mining
the Rooderand assets, DCM was obliged to pay Chrometco an amount equal to R13 million annually for the right to mine and for
mining activities at Rooderand. Chrometco received the first payment in December 2007, as well as three subsequent payments
in December 2008, 2009 and 2010. These payments have been received in terms of the mining and management agreement.
The total amount of payments to be made under the mining and management agreement was limited to R62 million. The mining
and management agreement terminated on 3 December 2011. At the date of this report, the company had not received the final
payment (amounting to R10 million) due from DCM Chrome in terms of the mining and management agreement. The company is
in the process of attempting to recover any amounts outstanding from DCM Chrome.
Chrometco is currently in the process of undertaking mining and exploration operations at Rooderand, while simultaneously
investigating other opportunities in relation to realising the residual value of the Rooderand assets in a manner which result in the
maximisation of shareholder wealth. The company is also in the process of consolidating its PGM and Chrome mining rights.
In the third quarter of the financial year under review, Chrometco entered into an agreement with Realm Resources Ltd and
Nkwe Platinum SA (Pty) Ltd to acquire geological data, drill cores and the PGM prospecting rights on the Remainder Portion on
Rooderand. In terms of the agreement, Chrometco will issue a further 70 million shares to Realm Resources Ltd and Nkwe Platinum
SA (Pty) Ltd upon the successful inclusion of the PGM mining rights on the Remainder Extent in the group’s existing mining right
for chrome on that tenement. Conclusion of this transaction will result in the addition of 8.7 million ounces of PGMs to the groups
mineral resource portfolio.
Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd is the intended recipient of a new order mining right on the Rooderand property, subject to the
successful transfer (in terms of the Mineral Petroleum and Resources Development Act) of the new order mining right held by
Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd.
Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary, holds 76% of the issued share capital of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd;
which is the holder of a new order mining rights on portion 2, and the remainder thereof, of the farm Rooderand.
Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary, is responsible for undertaking mining operations at Rooderand.

General review of operations
During the year under review, management focused its attention on the following issues:
•

revising the company’s mineral resources and reserves statement;

•

management of the company’s financial assets and contractual relationships;

•

the acquisition of mineral rights, and business opportunities in the Republic and elsewhere in sadc (southern african
development community);

•

optimisation of the allocation of capital resources;

•

recovering outstanding amounts from dcm Chrome;

•

performing a feasibility study on future mining operations at Rooderand;

•

undertaking mining activities as Rooderand; and

•

acquisition and consolidation of pgm prospecting rights on the Rooderand property.
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Corporate governance
The company agrees with the principles of corporate governance as laid out in the King Code and intends to comply with its
recommendations.

Segment report
Chrometco is a minerals exploration company with prospects in the North West Province of the Republic of South Africa.
As the group is currently involved in the exploration for various mineral resources only and all income and expenditure, assets and
liabilities are held and incurred in this single activity, segmental information will not be presented until such time as the business
has developed and segments of the business can be properly identified and a meaningful allocation can be made between such
segments.

Financial results
The group achieved a comprehensive loss after tax for the year amounting to R11 339 071 (2012: profit of R98 455 455) after a tax
saving of R3 054 074 (2012: deduction of R2 412 741).

Dividends
No dividends were declared during the period under review.

Subsidiaries
Directly and indirectly held
Percentage
holding
%

Shares
at cost
R

Due by
subsidiaries
R

Share of
net profit/
(loss) R

28 February 2013

Issued SHARE
capital
R

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd

104

100

R nil

171 001

_

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd

100

86

R nil

68 302

(60 000)

1000

76

R nil

749 455

508

100

100

R nil

9 684 051

628 280

R nil

10 672 809

568 788

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd
Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd

During the year Chrometco advanced the amount of R3 117 525 (2012: R6 845 726) by way of interest free loans to the subsidiary
companies as disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements. Certain of these loans have been subordinated in favour of the other
creditors of the companies until such time as the assets of the subsidiary, fairly valued, exceed the liabilities of the subsidiaries.
Chrometco has also supplied the subsidiary companies with letters of support indicating that Chrometco will provide the subsidiary
companies with financial support to meet their obligations.

Share capital
The company issued 20 million shares to Realm Resources and Nkwe Platinum (Pty) Ltd in terms of the Nkwe acquisition.
Additionally, the company adopted its Memorandum of Incorporation during the year under review; which had the following effects
on authorized and issued share capital.
Before

R

Authorised
500 000 000 ordinary shares of 0.001 cent each

5 000

Issued
204 928 683 ordinary shares of 0.001 cent each
Share premium
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2 049
54 185 197
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Share capital after the Conversion and Increase
R

After
Authorised
1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value

–

Issued
204 928 683 ordinary shares of no par value

54 187 246

The company does not have any unlisted securities in issue at the date of this report. The company did not repurchase any of its
shares during the year under review, as well as in the comparative prior period. The company is also not party to any restrictive
funding arrangements as contemplated in terms of section 8.63 of the JSE Listings Requirements.

Directors’ interests in share capital
At 28 February 2013 the directors of the company held directly the following shares in the company::

Directors

Number of
shares
2013

Number of
shares
2012

Percentage
2013

Percentage
2012

20.33

Ordinary shares directly and indirectly
beneficial
E Bramley

37 602 732

37 602 732

18,35

C S Seabrooke

500 000

–

0,24

T W Scott

300 000

25 000

0,15

0.01

P J Cilliers

550 000

–

0,27

–

38 952 732

37 627 732

19,01

20.34

The company has not been informed of any material changes in these holdings at the date of this report. The amounts reflected
above include any interests held by a director of the company in the past 18 months.

Executive share incentive scheme
The company has a cash-settled long-term incentive plan in place. At year-end, no awards had been made in terms of the plan.

Major shareholders of the company
The interests reflected below relate to any shareholders, that directly or indirectly, are beneficially interested in 5% or more of any
class of the issued share capital.

28 February 2013

Percentage
holding
2013

Percentage
holding
2012

Shares held
2013

Shares held
2012

Shareholder ordinary shares
Six Sis Limited (Swiss-based)

25,37

28.12

52 000 000

52 000 000

Audax Resources (Pty) Ltd*

16,04

17.78

32 877 532

32 877 532

Anglorand Securities Ltd

14,09

13,63

28 868 234

25 211 386

55,50

59,53

113 745 766

110 088 918

Percentage
holding
2013

Percentage
holding
2012

Shares held
2013

Shares held
2012

Non-public shareholders

74,51

79,80

152 698 498

147 579 650

Public shareholders

25,49

20,20

52 230 185

37 349 033

100.00

100.00

204 928 683

184 928 683

The shareholding can be summarised as follows:

28 February 2013

For a detailed breakdown of non-public shareholders, please refer to the share analysis on page 67.
* Indirectly beneficial holding of E Bramley
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Special resolutions
At the 2012 annual general meeting of shareholders a special resolution was passed to enable the company to hold the general
authority to acquire its own shares. The directors hold the general authority to issue up to 315 071 317 ordinary shares until the
date of the next annual general meeting. Subsequent to financial year-end, a special resolution was passed to enable the company
to provide financial assistance to its subsidiaries, as well as the approval of directors remuneration.

Acquisition of Rooderand geological information and PGM prospecting rights from
Realm Resources Limited and Nkwe Platinum Limited
In October 2012, shareholders voted in favour of acquiring geological information and PGM prospecting rights from Realm Resources
Limited and Nkwe Platinum Limited. The geological data had a fair value of R18.7million and payment for which was settled via an
issue of 20 million ordinary shares. The acquisition of the PGM prospecting rights is still subject to completion (pending approval by
the Department of Mineral Resources in terms of section 102 of the Mineral Petroleum and Resources Development Act); payment
for which will be settled through the issue of a further 70 million ordinary shares.

Financial assistance to subsidiary company
In July 2011, shareholders voted in favour of an appropriate special resolution enabling the company to provide financial assistance
to its subsidiaries. In terms of this authority, the company provided financial support to Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd in
order for that entity to obtain a bank guarantee in respect of the financial provision required by the Department of Mineral Resources
for the environmental rehabilitation obligation of the Rooderand property. The guarantee was required for the purposes of converting
the used old order mining licence held by Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd to a new order mining right.

Approval of Memorandum of Incorporation
In December 2012, shareholders voted in favour of adopting the company’s new Memorandum of Incorporation.

Borrowings
There were no significant borrowings at 28 February 2013.

Dividends
No dividends were declared or paid during the year under review.

Property, plant and equipment
There were no changes in the nature of property, plant and equipment nor in the policy regarding their use during the year.

Events subsequent to year-end
There were no material events that took place subsequent to financial year end.

Black economic empowerment
The company is in the process of implementing a plan to ensure that the principals of black economic empowerment and the Mining
Charter are fully implemented by 2014. Refer to note 4 of the annual financial statements for further information on the existing
empowerment structures.
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Directors
The directors of the company during the accounting period and up to the date of this report were as follows:
P J Cilliers 		

Executive

J G Scott			

Independent non-executive chairman

C S Seabrooke 		

Independent non-executive

I W S Collair		

Independent non-executive

R Rossiter		

Independent non-executive

R McConnachie		

Independent non-executive (alternate to R Rossiter)

E Bramley 		

Non-executive

T W Scott 		

Executive

The following changes to the board took place during the year under review, and up to the date of this report:
R Rossiter 		

Independent non-executive, appointed November 2012

R McConnachie		

Independent non-executive, appointed as alternate to R Rossiter in May 2013

Secretary
The secretary at the date of this report is CIS Company Secretaries (Pty) Ltd.

Business address

Postal address 		

Registered address

70 Marshall Street 			

PO Box 61051			

70 Marshall Street

Johannesburg 			Marshalltown 			Johannesburg
South Africa 			

South Africa 			

South Africa

2001 				2107 				2001

Auditors
In accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act of South Africa, RSM Betty & Dickson (Johannesburg) will continue in office.

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, since the directors have reason to believe that the
company has adequate resources in place and available to it from its shareholders to continue in operation for the foreseeable
future. In reaching this conclusion, the directors have considered the following:
•

The company’s cash requirements over the next 12 months;

•

The company’s current financial position; and

•

The probability of non-recurring events and circumstances that may have an impact on the company’s future cash
flows and financial position over the next 12 months.
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Report by the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee reports that it has discharged all of its responsibilities for the current financial year, including but not limited to:
•

nominated the appointment of rsm Betty & Dickson (Johannesburg) as the registered independent auditors after
satisfying itself through enquiry that rsm Betty & Dickson (Johannesburg) is independent as defined in the terms of the
companies act of south africa;

•

determined the fees to be paid to rsm Betty & Dickson (Johannesburg) and their terms of engagement;

•

ensured that the appointment of rsm Betty & Dickson (Johannesburg) complied with the companies act and any other
legislation relating to the appointment of auditors;

•

approved a non-audit services policy which determines the nature and extent of any non-audit services which rsm
Betty & Dickson (Johannesburg) may provide to the company; and

•

approved the appointment of the financial director and satisfied itself as to his competence.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that an adequate system of internal control is in place to reduce significant risks faced by the group
to an acceptable level, and that these controls have been effective throughout the period under review. The system is designed to
manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure and to maximise opportunities to achieve business objectives. This can provide only
reasonable, but not absolute assurance.
As required by the JSE Limited Listings Requirement 3.84(h), the Audit Committee has satisfied itself that Mr Trevor Scott, the group
financial director during the current financial year, has appropriate experience and expertise.
The Audit Committee has evaluated the group and company annual financial statements of Chrometco Limited for the year ended
28 February 2013 and based on the information provided to the Audit Committee, considers that it complies, in all material respects
with the requirements of the various Acts governing disclosure and reporting in the annual financial statements. The Audit Committee
has evaluated the independence of the external auditors and the Audit Committee is satisfied that the external auditors have
remained independent. The Audit Committee therefore recommends the adoption of the annual financial statements by the board.
The board has subsequently approved the financial statements which will be open for discussion at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
On behalf of the Audit Committee

C S Seabrooke
Audit Committee chairman
25 May 2013
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SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT
For the year ended 28 February 2013

The Committee reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Charter, and has regulated its affairs in
compliance with this Charter, and has discharged all of the responsibilities set out therein.
The Committee was established in December 2011 to assist the Board in ensuring that Chrometco is and remains a good and
responsible corporate citizen, and to perform the statutory functions required of a Social and Ethics Committee in terms of the
Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”).
The Committee monitors relevant legislation, other legal requirements and prevailing codes of best practice, specifically with regard
to matters relating to social and economic development, good corporate citizenship, the environment, health and public safety, as
well as labour and employment.
The Committee is satisfied that the Group’s performance in the categories noted above and will continue to review, assess and
report on these areas in the future.

Edward Bramley
Social and Ethics Committee Chairman
25 May 2013
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CONSOLIDATED Statement of
Financial Position
at 28 February 2013

Group
Note

2013
R

Company
2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

ASSETS
Non-current assets

199 821 323

184 531 302

31 226 723

6 618 078

Tangible assets

2

30 862

51 552

30 862

51 552

Intangible assets

3

197 498 572

184 479 750

19 219 822

–

Deferred taxation

18.4

2 291 889

–

2 291 889

–

4

–

–

9 684 150

6 566 526

31 753 304

38 607 381

20 723 753

31 719 577

Investment in subsidiaries
Current assets
Inventory

6

11 012 026

6 870 786

–

–

Trade and other receivables

7

973 051

126 666

972 912

126 482

Cash and cash equivalents

8

19 768 227

31 609 929

19 750 841

31 593 095

231 574 627

223 138 683

51 950 476

38 337 655

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

179 255 729

173 105 113

33 504 633

22 879 325

Stated capital

Capital and reserves
9

54 187 246

1 849

54 187 246

1 849

Share premium

9

-

35 485 397

-

35 485 397

Retained earnings / (accumulated loss)

90 446 534

101 785 605

(20 682 613)

(12 607 921)

Non-controlling interest

34 621 949

35 832 262

–

–

Non-current liabilities

33 278 700

34 436 220

–

–

18.4

33 278 700

34 436 220

–

–

19 040 198

15 597 350

18 445 843

15 458 330

Trade and other payables

10

15 546 812

12 499 298

15 486 314

12 498 801

Provisions

11

10 000

10 000

–

–

3 483 386

3 088 052

2 959 529

2 959 529

231 574 627

223 138 683

51 950 476

38 337 655

Deferred taxation
Current liabilities

Taxation payable
Total equity and liabilities
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CONSOLIDATED Statement of
Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 28 February 2013

Note
Revenue

12.1

Cost of sales

12.2

Gross profit

Group
2013
R

2012
R

Company
2013
R

2012
R

1 553 175

618 561

–

–

(529 560)

(314 302)

–

–

1 023 615

304 259

–

–

Other income

13

–

198

–

279 498

Gain on bargain purchase

28

–

115 128 153

–

–

VAT change in measurement

14

–

(6 017 544)

–

(6 017 544)

(17 808 655)

(10 520 622)

(11 547 312)

(9 248 761)

Operating expenses
Profit/(loss) before interest and taxation

15

(16 785 040)

98 894 444

(11 547 312)

(14 986 807)

Investment income

17

1 181 582

1 623 425

1 180 731

1 622 334

(15 603 458)

100 517 869

(10 366 581)

(13 364 473)

3 054 074

(2 412 741)

2 291 889

(2 573 598)

(12 549 384)

98 105 128

(8 074 692)

(15 938 071)

–

–

–

–

(12 549 384)

98 105 128

(8 074 692)

(15 938 071)

(1 210 313)

350 327

–

–

(11 339 071)

98 455 455

(8 074 692)

(15 938 071)

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Taxation

18

Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year
(Loss)/Profit attributable to non-controlling
interests
Total comprehensive profit/(loss)
attributable to owners of the parent
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents)

19

(5.92)

53.24

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents)

19

(4.33)

53.24
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CONSOLIDATED Statement
of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 28 February 2013

Note

STATED
capital
and share
premium
R

Retained
NonEarnings/
controlling (Accumulated
Interests
Loss)
R
R

Total
R

Group
Balance at 28 February 2011

35 487 246

–

3 330 150

38 817 396

Acquired through acquisition of Pilanesberg
Mining Company (Pty) Ltd

–

36 182 589

–

36 182 589

Non-controlling interest’s share of loss for
the year

–

(350 327)

–

(350 327)

Comprehensive income for the period
attributable to owners

–

–

98 455 455

98 455 455

35 487 246

35 832 262

101 785 605

173 105 113

18 700 000

–

–

18 700 000

Non-controlling interest’s share of loss for
the year

–

(1 210 313)

–

(1 210 313)

Comprehensive loss for the period
attributable to owners

–

–

(11 339 071)

(11 339 071)

54 187 246

34 621 949

90 446 534

179 255 729

35 487 246

–

3 330 150

38 817 396





(15 938 071)

(15 938 071)

35 487 246

–

(12 607 921)

22 879 325

18 700 000

–

–

18 700 000





(8 074 692)

(8 074 692)

54 187 246

–

(20 682 613)

33 504 633

Balance at 29 February 2012
Effect of share based payment

29

Balance at 28 February 2013

Company
Balance at 28 February 2011
Comprehensive loss for the period
attributable to owners
Balance at 29 February 2012
Effect of share based payment
Comprehensive loss for the period
attributable to owners
Balance at 28 February 2013

34
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CONSOLIDATED Statement
of Cash Flows
for the year ended 28 February 2013

Note

Group
2013
R

2012
R

Company
2013
R

2012
R

Cash flows from operating activities and exploration
for mineral resources
Receipts from customers

1 553 175

618 561

-

-

Payments to suppliers and employees

(13 776 459)

(8 282 957)

(9 105 361)

(1 097 271)

Cash utilised by operations and exploration activities

(12 223 284)

(7 664 396)

(9 105 361)

(1 097 271)

(14 664 236) (11 246 443)

(14 968 084)

Operating loss before working capital changes

25.1

(10 283 172)

Working capital changes

25.2

(1 940 112)

6 999 840

2 141 082

13 870 813

1 181 582

1 623 425

1 180 731

1 622 334

–

–

–

–

(11 041 702)

(6 040 971)

(7 924 630)

525 063

(6)

(24 209)

(6)

(24 209)

(799 994)



(799 994)





198



198



16 342



–

–

(3 117 624)

(6 566 526)

(800 000)

(7 669)

(3 917 624)

(6 590 537)

Dividends paid

–

–

–

–

Net cash outflow from financing activities

–

–

–

–

(6 048 640) (11 842 254)

(6 065 474)

Investment income
Taxation paid

25.3

Net (outflow)/inflow from operating and exploration activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment

2

Additions to mineral resource related intangible assets
Proceeds on sale of shares in subsidiary
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired

28

Advances to subsidiary
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(11 841 702)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

31 609 929

37 658 569

31 593 095

37 658 569

19 768 227

31 609 929

19 750 841

31 593 095

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

8
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 28 February 2013

1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Chrometco Limited (the company) is a company domiciled in the Republic of South Africa. The financial statements are
presented in South African Rand (“R”).

1.1	Statement of compliance
		

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS), the International Financial Reporting Standards, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the
Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by Financial Reporting Standards
Council, and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

		

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period, except for the changes set out in note 1.4 – new
standards and interpretations.

1.2 Basis of preparation
		

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except that the following assets and liabilities are
stated at their fair value: derivative financial instruments, financial instruments held for trading and financial instruments
classified as available for sale.

		

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell.

1.3	Critical judgements and key estimates
		

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may vary from these estimates.

		

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of revision
and future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods.

		

Significant judgements and critical estimates include:

		Trade receivables and loans and receivables
		

The group assesses its trade receivables and loans and receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period.
In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the company makes judgements as to
whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial
asset.

		Impairment testing
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The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher
of value-in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and
assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the assumptions may change which may then impact our estimations and
may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill and tangible assets.

		

The group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. In addition, goodwill is tested on an annual basis for impairment. Assets are
grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and
liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash
flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of goodwill and tangible
assets are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time.
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		Taxation
		

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The company recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

		

The group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable
that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred
income tax assets requires the company to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income.
Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates,
the ability of the company to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be
impacted.

		Valuation of intangible assets acquired through business combination
		

The mining right held by the subsidiary Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd was measured at fair value for the
purposes of accounting for the business combination. The fair value of the mining right is represented by the “fair” or
median value as determined by an independent valuation.

1.4	New standards and interpretations
		

1.4.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

			

In the current year, the company has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for
the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

			 IFRS 7 Amendments to IFRS 7 (AC144) Disclosures – Transfers of financial assets
			

Amended the required disclosures to help users of financial statements evaluate the risk exposures relating to
transfers of financial assets and the effect of those risks on an entity’s financial position.

			

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 July 2011.

			

The group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2013 annual financial statements.

			

The impact of the amendment is not material.

			 IAS 12 Income Taxes: Amendment: Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets
			 The amendment now provides that for investment property measured at fair value, the recovery of the carrying
amount is assumed to be through sale, with the result that deferred tax arising on the valuation is measured
using the prevailing tax rate for capital gains.
			

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2012.

			

The group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2013 annual financial statements.

			

The impact of the amendment is not material.

		

1.4.2 Standards and interpretations early adopted

			

		

The group has chosen not to early adopt any standards and interpretations.

1.4.3 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

			

The group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published
and are mandatory for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 March 2013 or later periods.

			 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
			

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2015.

			

The group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2016 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this standard is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.
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			 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
			

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013

			

The group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this standard is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.

			 IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements
			

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

			

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.

			 IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
			

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

			

The group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this standard is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.

			 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
			

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

			

The group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this standard is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.

			 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
			

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 July 2012.

			

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.

`		 IFRS 7 Financial Instrument: Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
(Amendments to IFRS 7)
			

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

			

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.

			 IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32)
			

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

			

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.

			 IAS 1 – Annual Improvements for 2009 – 2011 cycle
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The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

			

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.
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			 IAS 16 – Annual Improvements for 2009 – 2011 cycle
			

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

			

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.

			 IAS 32 – Annual Improvements for 2009 – 2011 cycle
			

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

			

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.

			 IAS 34 – Annual Improvements for 2009 – 2011 cycle
			

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

			

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.

			 Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and Disclosures of interests in Other Entities:
Transition Guidance.
			

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

			

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.

			 IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine.
			

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2013.

			

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

			

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to impact on the results of the group, but may result in more
disclosure than is currently provided in the group’s annual financial statements.

1.4.3		
			

Standards and interpretations not yet effective or relevant
All other standards and interpretations that have been published and are mandatory for the group’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 01 March 2013 or later periods are not considered relevant to its operations.

1.5 Basis of consolidation
		1.5.1 Business combinations
			

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the
date on which control is transferred to the group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the group takes into
consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable.

			

The group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the
acquiree; less
• the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

			

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The
consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships.
Such amounts generally are recognised in profit or loss. Transactions costs, other than those associated with
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the issue of debt or equity securities, that the group incurs in connection with a business combination are
expensed as incurred. Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date.
If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for
within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised
in profit or loss. When share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for
awards held by the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion
of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in
the business combination. This determination is based on the market-based value of the replacement awards
compared with the market-based value of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement
awards relate to past and/or future service.
			

The cost of the business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of assets given, liabilities
incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued. Costs directly attributable to the business combination are
expensed as incurred, except the costs to issue debt which are amortised as part of the effective interest and
costs to issue equity which are included in equity.

			

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities which meet the recognition conditions of
IFRS 3 Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values at acquisition date, except for non-current
assets (or disposal group) that are classified as held-for-sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held-for-sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised at fair value less costs to sell.

			

Contingent liabilities are only included in the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree where there is a
present obligation at acquisition date.

			

Non-controlling interest arising from a business combination is measured either at its share of the fair value of
the assets and liabilities of the acquiree or at fair value. The treatment is not an accounting policy choice but is
selected for each individual business combination, and disclosed in the note for business combinations.

			

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately
from the group’s interest therein, and are recognised within equity. Loses of subsidiaries attributable to noncontrolling interest are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if this results in a debit balance recognised
for non-controlling interest.

1.5.2		 Acquisitions of non-controlling interests
			

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result. Adjustments to non-controlling interests arising
from transactions that do not involve the loss of control are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets
of the subsidiary.

		Subsidiaries
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Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Investments in subsidiaries
are carried out at cost in the separate annual financial statements of Chrometco Limited. Investments in subsidiaries
carried out at cost are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value (less costs to sell).

		

Loss of control

		

On the loss of control, the group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non- controlling interests
and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is
recognised in profit or loss. If the group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured
at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an
available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.

		

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities (equity-accounted investees)

		

Associates are those entities in which the group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating
policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting power of
another entity. Jointly controlled entities are those entities over whose activities the group has joint control, established
by contractual agreement and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions.

		

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method and are recognised
initially at cost. The cost of the investment includes transaction costs.

		

The consolidated financial statements include the group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of equity accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the group, from the date
that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases.
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When the group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of the
investment, including any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that the group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the
investee.

		

Jointly controlled operations

		

A jointly controlled operation is a joint venture carried on by each venturer using its own assets in pursuit of the joint
operations. The consolidated financial statements include the assets that the group controls and the liabilities that it
incurs in the course of pursuing the joint operation, and the expenses that the group incurs and its share of the income
that it earns from the joint operation.

		

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

		

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra- group transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with
equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the group’s interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.

1.6	Tangible assets
		

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

		

Depreciation is provided on the straight-line basis, over the estimated useful lives of assets. Subsequent expenditure
relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits from
the use of the asset will be increased and/or the capacity to generate future economic benefits is increased. All other
subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

		

Surpluses/(deficits) on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are credited to income. The surplus or deficit is
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset.

		

Useful lives of tangible assets

		

Class of asset

Useful lives

		

Computer equipment

3 years

		

Office equipment

6 years

		

Other assets

6 years

		

Furniture and fittings

10 years

		

The depreciation method, residual values and useful lives are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

		

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item
shall be depreciated separately.

1.7	Intangible assets
		Mineral properties
		

Mineral properties acquired as part of a business combination or share based payment transactions are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. All other acquisitions of mineral properties are initially recognised at cost if acquired as
an asset. Mineral properties are tested annually for impairment on the same basis that property, plant and equipment
are when there is an indication of impairment. Mineral properties will be amortised over the life of the related mining
right.

		

Useful life of intangible asset

		

Class of asset		

Useful lives

		

New Order Mining Right (Chrome) on Portion 2 and the remainder of the farm Rooderand

30 years

		

Geological Information – Rooderand (acquired from NKWE Platinum)

29 years

		

Geological information – Rooderand (acquired from DCM Chrome)

29 years
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1.8	Leases
		Finance leases
		

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset to the group are
classified as finance leases. Assets acquired in terms of finance leases are capitalised at the lower of fair value and the
present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, and depreciated over the estimated useful life of
the asset. The capital element of future obligations under the leases is included as a liability in the balance sheet. Lease
payments are allocated using the effective interest rate method to determine the lease finance cost, which is charged
against income over the lease period, and the capital repayment, which reduces the liability to the lessor.

1.9	Impairment
		

The carrying amounts of the group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable amount is estimated.
The recoverable amount is the higher of its net selling price and its value in use. For intangible assets that are not yet
available for use, or intangible assets amortised over a period exceeding 20 years, the recoverable amount is estimated
at each balance sheet date or if there are indications of impairment present.

		

In assessing value in use, the expected future cash flows from the asset are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

		

For an asset that does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is recognised in the
income statement whenever the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

		

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed if the recoverable amount increases as a result of a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

1.10	Financial instruments
		

Financial assets and financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as:
•

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;

•

loans and receivables; and

•

financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

		

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred and takes place at
initial recognition.

		

Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

		

Initial recognition and measurement

		

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

		

The group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial
liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

		

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not
determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

		

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial
measurement of the instrument.

		

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

		Subsequent measurement
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accumulated impairment losses.
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Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity until the asset is disposed of or determined to be impaired. Interest on available-for-sale financial assets
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income. Dividends received
on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss as part of other income when the company’s
right to receive payment is established.

		

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

		

Impairment of financial assets

		

At each reporting date the group assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, to
determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.

		

For amounts due to the group, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy and default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

		

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss

		

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the
financial asset at the date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

		

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in profit
or loss within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is made against the relevant allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

		

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

		

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

		

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments or a financial guarantee contract. Gains or losses on investments held for trading are
recognised in profit or loss.

		

The company assesses whether embedded derivatives are required to be separated from host contracts when the
company first becomes party to the contract. Re-assessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required.

		

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified as held-tomaturity when the company has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial measurement heldto-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation
process.

		

Trade and other receivables

		

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market.

		

After initial measurement loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less
any allowance for impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

		

Interest bearing loans and borrowings

		

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs, and have not
been designated as ‘at fair value through profit or loss’.

		

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

		

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation
process.
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Trade and other payables

		

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition, the company measures trade and other payables at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method.

		

Cash and cash equivalents

		

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost.

		Offset
		

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when the company
has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.11	Revenue
		

Revenue from goods sold in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is recognised when persuasive evidence
exists, usually in the form of an executed sales agreement, that the significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return
of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing managerial involvement with the goods, and the amount of
the revenue can be measured reliably. If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured
reliably, then the discount is recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised.

		

The timing of the transfer of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the sales agreement. For
sales of chrome ore, transfer usually occurs when the customer receives the product at group’s premises.

1.12	Investment income
		

Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the effective rate over
the period to maturity, when it is probable that such income will accrue to the group.

		

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

1.13	Exploration costs
		

Exploration costs are recognised in the income statement until completion of a final feasibility study supporting proven
and probable reserves. Expenditure incurred subsequent to proven and probable reserves being identified is capitalised.

1.14	Taxation
		

Current tax comprises tax payable calculated on the basis of the expected taxable income for the year, using the tax
rates enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment of tax payable for previous years.

		

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, based on temporary differences. Temporary differences
are differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base.
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred
tax is charged to the income statement except to the extent that it relates to a transaction that is recognised directly
in equity, or a business combination that is an acquisition. The effect on deferred tax of any changes in tax rates is
recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items previously charged or credited directly
to equity.

		

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the associated unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

		

Secondary Tax on Companies is recognised as part of the current tax charge in the income statement when the related
dividend is declared.

1.15 Provisions
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A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised
as finance cost.
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		Warranties
		

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision is based on
historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

		Restructuring
		

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and
the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating losses are not provided for.

		Site restoration
		

In accordance with the group’s published environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for site
restoration in respect of contaminated land, and the related expense, is recognised when the land is contaminated.

		Onerous contracts
		

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the group from a contract
are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with
the contract. Before a provision is established, the group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with
that contract.

1.16 Employee benefits
		

Short-term employee benefits

		

The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related
service.

		

The provisions for employee entitlements to wages, salaries, annual and sick leave represent the amount, which the
group has a present obligation to pay as a result of employees’ services provided to the balance sheet date. The
provisions have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on current wage and salary rates.

1.17	Cash and cash equivalents
		

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call
with banks, and investments in money market instruments, net of bank overdrafts, all of which are available for use by
the group unless otherwise stated.

1.18	Segment reporting
		

The group is involved in exploration for and beneficiation of chrome resources. It is envisaged that, on a primary basis,
the company would be organised into two major operating divisions:
•

exploration activities; and

•

beneficiation activities.

		

In time a secondary segment basis, either the geographical location of the group’s facilities or, in the event of other
resources being developed, the specific resource activities, will be identified. The basis of segment reporting will be
representative of the internal structure used for management reporting.

		

Segment results include revenue and expenses directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of enterprise
revenue and expenses that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment, whether from external transactions
or from transactions with other group segments. Inter-segment transfer pricing is based on cost plus an appropriate
margin. Unallocated items mainly comprise corporate expenses, research and development costs, and amortisation of
intangible assets. Segment results are determined before any adjustments for minority interest.

		

Segment assets and liabilities comprise those operating assets and liabilities that are directly attributable to the segment
or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Segment assets are determined after deducting related
allowances that are reported as direct offsets in the group’s balance sheet. Segment assets and liabilities do not include
income tax items.

		

Capital expenditure represents the total costs incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected
to be used during more than one period (namely, property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets).
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As the group is currently involved only in the limited mining and exploration for chrome resources and all income
and expenditure, assets and liabilities are held and incurred in this single activity, segmental information will not be
presented until such time as the business has developed and segments of the business can be properly identified and
a meaningful allocation can be made between such segments.

1.19 Borrowing costs
		

In respect of borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for which the commencement date for capitalisation is on
or after 1 January 2009, the group capitalises borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. In respect of borrowing costs relating to qualifying
assets for which the commencement date for capitalisation is before 1 January 2009, the group recognises the
borrowing costs in profit or loss. The group considers a period more than 12 months to be a considerable time to
construct a qualifying asset.

1.20	Inventories
		

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in
first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs, and
other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories
and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.
Cost also includes transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases
of inventories.

		

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.

1.21	Share capital
		Ordinary shares
		

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

		

Repurchase and reissue of share capital (treasury shares)

		

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly
attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified
as treasury shares and are presented in the reserve for own shares. When treasury shares are sold or reissued
subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the
transaction is presented in share premium.

1.22	Share based payment transactions of the Company
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Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

		

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the equitysettled employee benefits reserve.

		

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value
of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the
counterparty renders the service.

		

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is recognised for the goods or services acquired, measured initially at
the fair value of the liability. At the end of each reporting period until the liability is settled, and at the date of settlement,
the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the year.

Annual financial statements & notice of AGM

2. TANGIBLE ASSETS
Useful lives

Cost
R

Accumulated
depreciation R

Carrying
amount
R

Computer equipment

3 years

50 903

33 639

17 264

Office equipment

6 years

10 977

7 879

3 098

Other assets

6 years

21 618

21 618

–

10 years

35 000

24 500

10 500

118 498

87 636

30 862

Group and Company

28 February 2013

Furniture and fittings

28 February 2012
Computer equipment

3 years

50 903

19 427

31 476

Office equipment

6 years

10 977

6 845

4 132

Other assets

6 years

21 618

19 674

1 944

10 years

35 000

21 000

14 000

118 498

66 946

51 552

2013
R

2012
R

51 552

46 264

118 498
(66 946)

114 444
(68 180)

Additions – expansion

–

24 209

Computer equipment

–

24 209

Office equipment

Furniture and fittings

The carrying amounts of tangible assets can be reconciled as follows:
Group and Company

Carrying amount at beginning of the year
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

–

–

Depreciation

(20 690)

(18 921)

Computer equipment

(14 212)

(10 404)

Office equipment

(1 034)

(1 413)

Furniture and fittings

(3 500)

(3 500)

Other assets

(1 944)

(3 604)

Carrying amount at end of the year

30 862

51 552

Accumulated
amortisation
and impairment
losses
R

Carrying
amount
R

3. INTANGIBLE ASSET

Useful
life

Fair Value at
Acquisition
R

New order mining right - Rooderand

30 years

186 030 000

(7 751 250)

178 278 750

Geological information – Rooderand
(acquired from NWKE Platinum)

29 years

19 499 994

(280 172)

19 219 822

205 529 994

(8 031 422)

197 498 572

Group

28 February 2013
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company

Accumulated
amortisation
and impairment
losses
R

Useful
life

Fair Value at
Acquisition
R

Carrying
amount
R

29 years

19 499 994

(280 172)

19 219 822

19 499 994

(280 172)

19 219 822

28 February 2013
Geological information – Rooderand
(acquired from NWKE Platinum)

Group

29 February 2012
New order mining right - Rooderand

Accumulated
amortisation
and impairment
losses
R

Useful
life

Fair Value at
Acquisition
R

Carrying
amount
R

30 years

186 030 000

(1 550 250)

184 479 750

186 030 000

(1 550 250)

184 479 750

The remaining amortisation period of the new order mining right – Rooderand at 28 February 2013 was 28.75 years.
The remaining amortisation period of Rooderand related geological information acquired from DCM Chrome and Nkwe Platinum
was 28.75 years at 28 February 2013.
The carrying amount of the intangible assets can be reconciled as follows:
2013
R

2012
R

Carrying amount at beginning of the year

184 479 750

–

At cost
Accumulated amortisation

186 030 000
(1 550 250)

–
–

–

186 030 000

19 499 994

–

(6 201 000)

(1 550 250)

(280 172)

–

197 498 572

184 479 750

Group

Intangible asset

Additions – acquisition of new order mining right at fair value
through business combination (refer to note 28)
Additions – acquisition of geological information on
Rooderand resource
Amortisation of mining right for the year
Amortisation of geological information for the year
Carrying amount at end of the year

4. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
Issued

Directly held

share

Percentage

Shares

Due by

capital

holding

at cost

subsidiaries

R

%

R

R

28 February 2013
Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd

100

86

–

68 302

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd

104

100

–

171 001

1 000

76

–

749 455

100

100

–

9 684 051

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd
Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd

10 672 809
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Issued

Directly held

share

Percentage

Shares

Due by

capital

holding

at cost

subsidiaries

R

%

R

R

29 February 2012
Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd

100

86

–

68 302

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd

104

100

–

171 001

1 000

76

–

749 455

100

100

–

6 566 426

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd
Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd

7 555 484
The company’s voting power is in direct proportion to their percentage shareholding. The shares in subsidiaries were acquired at
no cost.
The above mentioned investments are incorporated in South Africa.
Company
2013
R

Net investment in subsidiaries

Shares at cost
Loans to subsidiaries
Less: provision for losses
Less: impairment losses on amounts due from subsidiaries

2012
R

–

–

10 672 809

7 555 484

–

–

(988 659)

(988 958)

9 684 150

6 566 526

With the exception of Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd, the loans to the subsidiary company have been subordinated in favour
of the other creditors of the subsidiaries. Net loans to the subsidiary are interest free with no fixed terms of repayment.
In 2010, the company entered into an agreement in terms of which Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd obtained the shareholder’s loan account in
Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd for no consideration. The shareholder’s loan account has a face value of R8 379 168 and has
been recognised in the consolidated financial statements at no cost. The fair value of the shareholder’s loan account is substantially
the same as its historic cost.
At 28 February 2013, the financial year end of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, the said loan from Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd
amounted to R8 379 168 (2012 8 379 167). As part of a Black Economic Empowerment (“BEE”) initiative, the group sold 198 shares
in Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, amounting to 19.8% of the issued share capital of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd,
to a BEE consortium during the financial year ended 29 February 2012 for a profit of R198. Additionally, the group sold 14 shares in
Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd, amounting to 14% of the issued share capital of Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd, to a BEE consortium
during the financial year ended 28 February 2013 for no profit.

5. OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group

Company

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

10 000 000

10 000 000

10 000 000

10 000 000

(10 000 000)

(10 000 000)

(10 000 000)

(10 000 000)

Fair value adjustments

–

–

–

–

Less: Current portion (net of impairments loss)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Receivable on conditional Rooderand sale/Mining and
Management agreement
Less: Impairment losses
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Chrometco Limited entered into a conditional sale agreement in 2007 for the sale of the Rooderand assets for an amount of R62
million, as well as a mining and management agreement with DCM Chrome (Pty) Ltd. In terms of these agreements, DCM Chrome
(Pty) Ltd was obligated to pay an amount of R13 million annually in terms of the mining and management agreement until the sale
agreement became unconditional or the cumulative payments under the mining and management agreement equaled R49 million.
Accordingly, an amount of R10 million became due and payable on 3 December 2011 by DCM Chrome (Pty) Ltd in terms of
the mining and management agreement. Management has continued to impair the amount of R10 million (2012: R10 million)
outstanding in terms of the mining and management agreement at 28 February 2013, due to uncertainty over its recoverability. The
company is in the process of liquidating DCM Chrome (Pty) Ltd in order to recover outstanding amounts owed.
The long-term receivable is unsecured, bears no interest and was payable on 3 December 2011.

6. INVENTORY
Group

Chrome ore

Company

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

11 012 026

6 870 786

–

–

11 012 026

6 870 786

–

–

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group

Trade receivables

Company

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

973 051

126 666

972 912

126 482

973 051

126 666

972 912

126 482

There is no material difference between the fair value of trade and other receivables and their book value.

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Group

Current account

COMPANY

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

19 768 227

31 609 929

19 750 841

31 593 095

19 768 227

31 609 929

19 750 841

31 593 095

There is no material difference between the fair value and the book value of cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalent
balances amounting to R5 967 343 are encumbered by a bank guarantee issued in favour of the Department of Mineral Resources
on behalf of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd. The guarantee relates to the contingent liability regarding the rehabilitation of
land disturbed by mining. Refer to note 21 – Contingent Liabilities.
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9. Stated capital and share premium
Group

Company

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

Authorised
1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value
(2012: 500 000 000 ordinary par value
shares of 0.001 cent each)

5 000

5 000

5 000

5 000

Reconciliation of number of shares issued:
184 928 683 (2012: 184 928 683) ordinary shares
of no par value reported as at 1 March 2012

1 849

1 849

1 849

1 849

Allotment
20 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value issued
in 2013 (refer to note 29)

200

-

200

-

54 187 246

1 849

54 187 246

1 849

-

35 485 397

-

35 485 397

54 187 246

35 487 246

54 187 246

35 487 246

Issued
At the end of the year 204 928 683 ordinary
no par value shares
Share premium at year-end

During the year the company converted ordinary par value shares to ordinary shares of no par value

10. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group
2013
R
VAT payable

Company
2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

3 923 539

5 062 893

3 923 539

5 062 893

11 623 273

7 436 405

11 562 775

7 435 908

15 546 812

12 499 298

15 486 314

12 498 801

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

10 000

–

–

–

Assumed through business combination

–

10 000

–

–

Provisions made during year

–

–

–

–

10 000

10 000

–

–

Accruals

11. PROVISIONS
Group

Company

Provision for rehabilitation of land disturbed
by mining
Balance at beginning of year

Balance at end of year

Provision for rehabilitation of land disturbed by mining
Upon the acquisition of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd in 2011, the group assumed a provision for rehabilitation of land disturbed
by mining at Rooderand amounting to R10 000 (2012: R 10 000).
Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd is responsible for the rehabilitation of all land disturbed by mining at Rooderand. The settlement
of the provision reflected above is expected to take place upon the future termination of mining activities at Rooderand and the
accompanying rehabilitation cost of land disturbed by mining.
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12. REVENUE and cost of sales
12.1 Revenue
GROUP
2013
R
Sale of chrome ore

2012
R

COMPANY
2013
R

2012
R

1 553 175

618 561

–

–

1 553 175

618 561

–

–

12.2 Cost of Sales
GROUP

Mining and processing cost of chrome ore sold

COMPANY

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

529 560

314 302

–

–

529 560

314 302

–

–

13. OTHER INCOME
GROUP

COMPANY

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

Management fees

–

–

–

279 300

Sundry income

–

–

–

–

Profit on sale of investment (refer to note 4)

–

198

–

198

–

198

–

279 498

14. VAT CHANGE IN MEASUREMENT
GROUP

VAT on Rooderand conditional sale proceeds

COMPANY

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

–

6 017 544

–

6 017 544

–

6 017 544

–

6 017 544

Subsequent to the conditions precedent to the sale of shares agreement with DCM Chrome (Pty) Ltd not being fulfilled, an amount
equal to R49 million has become subject to value added taxation during the 2012 financial year. The application of VAT to amounts
received and accrued from DCM Chrome (Pty) Ltd has resulted in VAT payable of R6 017 544. The company is still waiting a ruling
from revenue authorities as to the applicability of VAT to the transaction.
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15. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXATION
GROUP

COMPANY
2012
R

2013
R

577 291

587 755

577 291

587 755

400 000

370 000

400 000

370 000

177 291

217 755

177 291

217 755

2013
R

2012
R

Operating profit is arrived at after taking into account:
Auditor’s remuneration
Current year audit fee
Fees for other services
Depreciation of plant and equipment

20 690

18 921

20 690

18 921

14 212

10 404

14 212

10 404

Office equipment

1 034

1 413

1 034

1 413

Furniture and fittings

3 500

3 500

3 500

3 500

Other assets

1 944

3 604

1 944

3 604

4 121 767

3 138 089

4 121 767

3 138 089

Bargain purchase price realised on acquisition of
subsidiaries

–

115 128 153

–

–

Change in VAT measurement

–

6 017 544

–

6 017 544

Impairment loss on loan to group companies
(refer to note 4)

–

–

299

279 300

6 481 172

1 550 250

280 172

–

–

198

–

198

For services
as directors
R

Remuneration
R

Allowances
and benefits
R

Total
R

–
–

1 026 900

399 000

1 425 900

1 146 550

420 000

1 566 550

–

2 173 450

819 000

2 992 450

J G Scott

68 000

68 000

E Bramley

68 000

C S Seabrooke

56 000

I W S Collair

44 000

R Rossiter

24 000

–
–
–
–
–
–

260 000

819 000

3 252 450

Computer equipment

Employee costs

Amortisation of intangible assets
Profit on disposal of shares in subsidiary

16. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Group and Company

28 February 2013
Executives
P J Cilliers
T W Scott
Subtotal
Non-executives

Subtotal

260 000

–
–
–
–
–
–

Total

260 000

2 173 450

68 000
56 000
44 000
24 000
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Remuneration
R

Allowances
and benefits
R

Total
R

–
–
–

1 278 140

421 660

1 699 800

882 385

378 165

1 260 550

2 160 525

799 825

2 960 350

J G Scott

36 000

–

–

36 000

E Bramley

36 000

–

–

36 000

C S Seabrooke

–

–

–

–

I W S Collair

–

–

–

–

Subtotal

72 000

–

–

72 000

Total

72 000

2 160 525

799 825

3 032 350

Group and Company

For services
as directors
R

29 February 2012
Executives
P J Cilliers
T W Scott
Subtotal
Non-executives

17. INVESTMENT INCOME
Group

Interest received from financial institutions

Company

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

1 181 582

1 623 425

1 180 731

1 622 334

1 181 582

1 623 425

1 180 731

1 622 334

18. TAXATION
Group

Company

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

(286 613)

(3 044 722)

–

(2 959 529)

Deferred tax

3 449 409

675 311

2 291 889

385 931

Royalties tax

(108 722)

(43 330)

–

–

3 054 074

(2 412 741)

2 291 889

(2 573 598)

South African normal tax:
Current tax

54

Annual financial statements & notice of AGM

Group

Company

2013
%

2012
%

2013
%

2012
%

28.0

28.0

28.0

28.0

(3.9)

(32.73)

(5,9)

4,49

–

6.86

–

(51,75)

•• Capital gains tax effect on amortization of intangible
assets

(3.7)

0.15

–

–

•• Deferred tax on increase in group assessed losses
not recognised

(0.1)

0.08

–

–

•• Royalties tax

(0.7)

0.04

–

–

Net change in tax rate

(8.4)

(25.60)

(5,9)

(47.26)

19.6

2.40

22,1

(19.26)

R

R

R

R

279 300

23 321 674

–

23 321 674

8 185 317

279 300

8 185 317

–

–

(23 321 674)

–

(23 321 674)

Available for set-off against future taxable income

8 464 617

279 300

8 185 317

–

Attributable to ordinary shareholders

8 464 617

279 300

8 185 317

–

1 867 540

1 867 540

1 867 540

1 867 540

–

–

–

–

1 867 540

1 867 540

1 867 540

1 867 540

(34 436 220)

(385 931)

–

(385 931)

3 449 409

675 311

2 291 889

385 931

–

(34 725 600)

–

–

30 986 811

(34 436 220)

2 291 889

–

18.1	Reconciliation of tax rate
South African normal tax rate
Adjusted for:
•• Non-deductible/taxable expenditure/income
•• Effect of change in measurement on prior deferred
taxation balances

Effective tax rate

18.2	Estimated tax losses
At beginning of year
Incurred during the year
Utilised during the year

18.3 Unredeemed capital expenditure
At beginning of year
Incurred during the year
Available for set-off against future taxable income
from mining activities

18.4 	Deferred tax
At beginning of year
Charge for the year
Acquired through business combination
At end of the year
Temporary differences on intangible asset at capital gains
tax rates
Unutilised tax losses

(34 436 220)

–

2 291 889

–

2 291 889

–

33 278 700

(34 436 220)

2 291 889

–
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19. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
19.1 Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share and diluted earnings/(loss) per share at 28 February 2013 is based on
losses attributable to ordinary shareholders of R11 339 071 (2012: profit of R98 455 455) and a weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 28 February 2013 of 191 595 350 (2012: 184 928 683), calculated
as follows:
2013
R

2012
R

(12 549 384)

98 105 128

Non-controlling interest’s share of (losses)/profits

(1 210 313)

350 327

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders

(11 339 071)

98 455 455

Profit/(loss) for the year

Number of
shares issued

Weighted average
number of shares

2013

2012

2013

2012

184 928 683

184 928 683

184 928 683

184 928 683

20 000 000

–

6 666 667

–

204 928 683

184 928 683

191 595 350

184 928 683

(5.92)

53.24

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
Issued shares at beginning of year
Movement for the year
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at
28 February
Earnings/(loss) per share (cents)

19.2 Basic diluted earnings per share
The calculation of basic diluted earnings/(loss) per share at 28 February 2013 is based on losses attributable to ordinary
shareholders of R 11 339 071 (2012: profit of R98 455 455) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year ended 28 February 2013 of 261 595 350 (2012: 184 928 683), calculated as follows:
2013
R

2012
R

(12 549 384)

98 105 128

Non-controlling interest’s share of (losses)/profits

(1 210 313)

350 327

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders

(11 339 071)

98 455 455

Profit/(loss) for the year

Number of
shares issued

Weighted average
number of shares

2013

2012

2013

2012

184 928 683

184 928 683

184 928 683

184 928 683

Movement for the year

20 000 000

–

6 666 667

–

Effective of dilutive shares (70 000 000 shares to be
issued upon conclusion of Nkwe transaction)

70 000 000



70 000 000



274 928 683

184 928 683

261 595 350

184 928 683

(4.33)

53.24

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
Issued shares at beginning of year

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at
28 February
Earnings/(loss) per share (cents)
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19.3	Headline earnings per share and diluted headline earnings per share
The calculation of headline loss per share at 28 February 2013 is based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of
R11 339 071 (2012: R16 672 896) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended
28 February 2013 of 191 595 350 (2012: 184 928 683) calculated as follows:
2013
R

2012
R

(11 339 071)

98 455 455

Profit on disposal of subsidiary

–

–

Reversal of impairment on long-term receivables

–

–

Bargain purchase price realised

–

(115 128 153)

Profit on sale of shares in subsidiary

–

(198)

Impairment of receivable

–

–

(11 339 071)

(16 672 896)

Profit/(loss) for the year
Adjustment for:

Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders
Number of
shares issued
2013
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
Issued shares at beginning of the year

2012

2013

–

2012
–

184 928 683

184 928 683

184 928 683

184 928 683

20 000 000

–

6 666 667

–

204 928 683

184 928 683

191 595 350

184 928 683

–

–

(5.92)

(9.01)

Movement for the year
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at
28 February

Weighted average
number of shares

Headline loss per share (cents)

There are no equity instruments in issue that will dilute headline earnings per share

.

20. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
No capital commitments existed at 28 February 2013 (2012: R nil).
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Group

Company

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

8 923 695

8 923 695

8 923 695

8 923 695

8 923 695

8 923 695

8 923 695

8 923 695

5 967 343

5 967 343

5 967 343

5 967 343

5 967 343

5 967 343

5 967 343

5 967 343

21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
21.1 Guarantees to subsidiaries

In terms of an agreement between Chrometco and Pilanesberg
Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, Chrometco has agreed to provide
financial support to Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd to the
extent of R8 923 495 (2012: R8 923 495) until such time that
the assets of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, fairly valued, exceed its liabilities. At the date of the financial statements,
the solvency of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd had not
yet been restored.

21.2 Guarantees to third parties

On behalf of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, Chrometco
has guaranteed (in the form of a bank guarantee) the financial
obligation to the Department of Mineral Resources to rehabilitate
land disturbed by mining in accordance with the requirements of
the Minerals and Petroleum Resources Development Development Act. The total amount of the guarantee is R5 967 343
(2012: R5 967 343).
Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd has entered into an agreement (the “Mining and Management Agreement) with Benhaus
Mining (Pty) Ltd in relation to mining services to be rendered at
the Rooderand site between 10 January 2012 and 28 February
2013.
Chrometco Ltd has agreed to guarantee any debts that
Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd may be liable to Benhaus
Mining (Pty) Ltd in terms of the Mining and Management Agreement referred to above.

22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The main risks arising from the company’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.
This note presents information about the company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the company’s objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the company’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are
included throughout the financial statements.

22.1 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a counter-party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the company’s receivables arising from non-trade-related transactions as the company
is currently still in the exploration phase of its business activities.
The company transacts only with recognised creditworthy third parties. The company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by
the individual characteristics of each counter-party. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with
the result that the company’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. The credit risk currently only arises from non-traderelated financial assets. The exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counter-party, with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amount of these instruments.

58

Annual financial statements & notice of AGM

22.2	Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The company’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities
when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
company’s reputation.
The company monitors its risk to a shortage of funds by using cash flow forecasting tools. The cash flow forecasting tool
determines cash requirements over the foreseeable future, as well as evaluating expected cash flows from operations.
The company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
overdrafts, inter-company loans, trade payables and trade receivables.

22.3	Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will affect the
company’s income. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

22.4 Interest rate risk
The company’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to the company’s holdings of cash and cash equivalents.

22.5 Capital management
The company’s capital consists of the share capital, share premium and retained earnings as presented in the statement of
changes in equity.
The primary objective of the company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy
capital ratios (e.g: return on capital) in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. Going forward, the
company will manage its capital using a gearing ratio (where applicable), which is debt divided by the total of capital and debt.
There are no externally imposed capital requirements.
There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally
imposed capital requirements from the previous year.

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
As trading activities are limited and have only recently commenced, this exposure is currently limited and consequently no formal
measures are adopted to reduce these risks.
It is envisaged that once the group’s activities reach a level where these risks become material, appropriate measures will be put in
place to reduce these risks.
Group

23.1

Company

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

Trade and other receivables

973 051

126 666

972 912

126 482

Cash and cash equivalents

19 768 227

31 609 929

19 750 841

31 593 095

–

–

9 684 150

6 566 526

20 741 278

31 736 595

30 407 903

38 286 103

11 623 273

7 436 405

11 562 775

7 435 908

11 623 273

7 436 405

11 562 775

7 435 908

IAS 39 – Categories: Loans and Receivables

Investment in subsidiaries

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables
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Group

23.2

Company

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

Trade and other receivables

973 051

126 666

972 912

126 482

Cash and cash equivalents

19 768 227

31 609 929

19 750 841

31 593 095

–

–

9 684 150

6 566 526

20 741 278

31 736 595

30 407 903

38 286 103

Domestic

20 741 278

31 736 595

30 407 903

38 286 103

Total maximum exposure to credit risk

20 741 278

31 736 595

30 407 903

38 286 103

Trade and other receivables

973 051

126 666

972 912

126 482

Cash and cash equivalents

19 768 227

31 609 929

19 750 841

31 593 095

–

–

9 684 150

6 566 526

20 741 278

31 736 595

30 407 903

38 286 103

973 051

126 666

972 912

126 482

31 – 60 days

–

–

–

–

61 – 90 days

–

–

–

–

973 051

126 666

972 912

126 482

Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk:
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the
maximum exposure to credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date
was:

Investment in subsidiaries
Total maximum exposure to credit risk
Concentration of credit risk by geographic location:
The maximum exposure of financial assets to credit risk
by geographical region at reporting date is as follows:

Concentrations of credit risk by receivable category:
The maximum exposure of financial assets to credit
risk by receivable type at reporting date is as follows:

Investment in subsidiaries
Total maximum exposure of receivables to credit risk
The ageing of receivables at reporting date:
Receivables not past due:
Current

Total receivables not past due
Receivables past due:
91 – 120 days

–

–

–

–

121 – 150 days

–

–

–

–

Over 150 days

–

–

–

–

Total receivables past due

–

–

–

–

At year-end, management continued to fully provided for the impairment of all other long-term receivables with a carrying
amount of R10 000 000 (2012: R10 000 000). Refer to note 5 for further information.
At company level, management has provided for the impairment of the long-term loan to the group companies with a total
carrying amount of R988 659 (2012: R988 958). Provisions for impairment of receivables are recognised when management
assesses that there is a low probability of receiving the amounts due. Management has fully provided for all other receivables
that are past their due date.
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23.3 Liquidity risk
The following table represents the contractual maturity for all financial liabilities of the company at reporting date:
Between one
and two years

Between two
and five years

More than
five years

Trade and other payables

11 623 273

–

–

Total financial liabilities

11 623 273

–

–

Trade and other payables

7 436 405

–

–

Total financial liabilities

7 436 405

–

–

Between one
and two years

Between two
and five years

More than
five years

Trade and other payables

11 562 775

–

–

Total financial liabilities

11 562 775

–

–

Trade and other payables

7 435 908

–

–

Total financial liabilities

7 435 908

–

–

Group

2013

2012

Company

2013

2012

23.4 Interest rate risk
Profile
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the group and the company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:
Group

Company

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

Cash and cash equivalents

19 768 227

31 609 929

19 750 841

31 593 095

Total variable rate financial assets

19 768 227

31 609 929

19 750 841

31 593 095

Variable rate instruments
– carrying amounts
Financial assets:

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate financial instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss by the amounts
shown below. The sensitivity analysis was calculated by multiplying the year-end balances by the increase or decrease in the interest
rate. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
Group
Increase/
decrease

2013
R

Company
2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

Cash and cash equivalents

+100

142 331

227 591

142 206

227 470

Cash and cash equivalents

-100

(142 331)

(227 591)

(142 206)

(227 470)
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24. RELATED PARTIES
Subsidiary companies/ entities with common directors

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd
Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd
Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd
Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd
Mokwele Group

Ultimate controlling party of above subsidiaries

Chrometco Limited

During the year the company entered into the following transactions with the directors, shareholders and/or related entities.
Percentage
interest
held
directly and
indirectly,
by
Chrometco
Limited
Subsidiary entitIES

Repayment
of expenses
incurred on
behalf of the
company

Services
provided to
the company

Amounts owed
by/(to) related
parties

R

R

R

2013
Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd

100%

–

–

171 001

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd

86%

–

–

68 302

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd

76%

–

–

749 455

100%

–

–

9 684 051

–

–

10 672 809

–

33 054

60 000

–

–

23 148

60 000

–

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd

Common directors
28 February 2013
Mokwele Group – Consulting Services
29 February 2012
Mokwele Group – Consulting Services
Directors

The directors named in the attached directors’ report held office as directors of the company during the periods ended
28 February 2013.
Expenses
recovered from
related party
not shown
elsewhere

Services to
related party
not shown
elsewhere

Amount owed by
related party not
shown elsewhere

R

R

R

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd

–

–

171 001

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd

–

–

68 302

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd

–

–

749 455

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd

–

–

9 684 051

–

–

10 672 809

Companies with common directors
2013
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Expenses
recovered from
related party
not shown
elsewhere

Services to
related party
not shown
elsewhere

Amount owed by
related party not
shown elsewhere

R

R

R

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd

–

57 000

171 001

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd

–

22 800

68 302

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd

–

199 500

749 755

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd

–

–

6 566 426

–

279 300

7 555 484

Companies with common directors
2012

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd has a shareholder loan amounting to R8 379 168. The group has recognised this loan at a
historical cost of R nil.
Chrometco Limited advanced R3 117 525 to Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd during the year under review. The intercompany
loan is interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

25. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Group

Company

2013
R

2012
R

2013
R

2012
R

(15 603 458)

100 517 869

(10 366 580)

(13 364 473)

– Profit on sale of shares in subsidiary

(198)

–

(198)

– (Profit)/loss on disposal of subsidiary

–

–

–

(1 181 582)

(1 623 425)

(1 180 731)

(1 622 334)

20 696

18 921

20 696

18 921

– Bargain purchase price realised

–

(115 128 153)

–

–

– Amortisation of intangible asset

6 481 172

1 550 250

280 172

–

–

500

–

–

(10 283 172)

(14 664 236)

(11 246 443)

(14 968 084)

(4 141 240)

(6 870 786)

–

–

(846 386)

1 425 860

(846 431)

1 426 045

3 047 514

12 444 766

2 987 513

12 444 768

1 940 112

6 999 840

2 141 082

13 870 813

3 088 056

–

2 959 529

–

395 330

3 088 056

–

2 959 529

Secondary Tax on Companies paid

–

–

–

–

Interest on amounts due

–

–

–

–

(3 483 386)

(3 088 056)

(2 959 529)

(2 959 529)

–

–

–

–

25.1 Operating loss before working capital changes
Net profit/(loss) before taxation
Adjusted for:

– Investment income
– Depreciation

– Other non cash item

25.2 Working capital changes
Increase in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables

25.3 Taxation
Amount due at beginning of period
Current tax charge

Amount due at end of period
Tax paid
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26. ASSET VALUE PER SHARE
Group

Net asset value per share
Net tangible asset value per share

2013
R

2012
R

87.47

93.61

7.34

12.47

The calculation of net asset value per ordinary share is based on a net asset value of R179 255 729 (2012: R173 105 613) and
an issued number of shares of 204 928 683 (2012: 184 928 683). The calculation of net tangible asset value per ordinary share
is based on net tangible assets of R15 035 857 (2012: R23 062 083) and an issued number of ordinary shares of 204 928 683
(2012: 184 928 683).

27. SEGMENTAL REPORTING
Management has not presented segment reporting during the year under review as the group has only one operating segment.

28. Acquisition of subsidiaries
On 3 December 2011, the Group obtained control (for accounting purposes) of Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd, Korpo Trust (Pty)
Ltd and Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd. Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd is the holder of a new order mining right for
chrome on Portion 2 and the remainder of the farm Rooderand in the North West Province of South Africa. Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd
is the holding company of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd and Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd is the intended recipient of the
aforementioned new order mining right subject to a transfer in accordance with section 11 of the Minerals and Petroleum Resources
Development Act. Chrometco also formed a new subsidiary, Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd, for the purposes of undertaking
mining activities at Rooderand, and possible elsewhere in future periods. Chrometco’s equity interest in the entities upon acquisition
and at 28 February 2013 is as follows:
28 February 2013

Name of subsidiary

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd
Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd
Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd
Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd

NON CONTROLLING
INTEREST AT MEASUREMENT
ACQUISITION DATE
BASIS

REVENUE
PROFIT/
SINCE LOSS SINCE
ACQUISITION ACQUISITION

86%

R nil

FAIR VALUE

-

(60 000)

100%

N/A

N/A

-

-

76%

R 36 182 589

FAIR VALUE

-

508

100%

N/A

N/A

1 553 175

628 280

Equity
interest

29 February 2012

Name of subsidiary

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd
Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd
Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd
Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd

NON CONTROLLING
INTEREST AT MEASUREMENT
ACQUISITION DATE
BASIS

REVENUE
PROFIT/
SINCE LOSS SINCE
ACQUISITION ACQUISITION

86%

R nil

FAIR VALUE

-

(22 800)

100%

N/A

N/A

-

(57 000)

76%

R 36 182 589

FAIR VALUE

-

(198 824)

100%

N/A

N/A

618 561

175 736

Equity
interest

The revenue and profit / loss of the combined entity as though the acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred
during the year had been as of the beginning of the annual reporting period would have been as follows:
2012
R

Revenue
Profit / loss
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Chrometco Limited acquired control (for accounting purposes) of Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd, Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd and Pilanesberg
Mining Company (Pty) Ltd upon the expiry of the mining and management agreement with DCM Chrome (Pty) Ltd on 3 December
2011. Taking control of the Rooderand subsidiaries will enable the Group to continue to extract value from the chrome resource at
Rooderand.
The following summarises the major classes of consideration transferred, and the recognised amounts of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.

Consideration transferred
Amount in
Rand

Name of subsidiary

Nature of consideration

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd

Cash

–

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd

Cash

–

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd

Cash

–

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd

Cash

R 100

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at fair value
Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd
Intangible asset

186 030 000

Cash and cash equivalents

16 342

Provision for environmental rehabilitation

(10 000)

Deferred tax

(34 725 600)
151 310 742

The fair value of intangible asset (a new order mining right for chrome) has been determined by reference to an independent
valuation performed by Venmyn Rand (Pty) Ltd.

Mineral asset valuation at acquisition
•

Venmyn Rand (Pty) Ltd (“Venmyn”) was commissioned by Chrometco Limited to perform an independent valuation of the
Rooderand Project at 3 December 2011, being the date upon which control (in terms of accounting requirements) of the
Rooderand project (held by the company’s subsidiaries: Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd, Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd and Pilanesberg
Mining Company (Pty) Ltd) reverted to the Chrometco group as a result of the expiry of the mining and management
agreement with DCM Chrome.

•

The valuation was compiled in accordance with the reporting and assessment criteria stipulated for Mineral Asset Valuations
in the SAMVAL Code.

•

Venmyn is an independent advisory company. Its consultants have extensive experience in preparing competent persons’,
technical advisors’ and valuation reports for mining and exploration companies. Venmyn’s advisors have, collectively, more
than 100 years of experience in the assessment and evaluation of mining projects and are members in good standing of
appropriate professional institutions.

•

Venmyn’s reports have been accepted by the Johannesburg, London, Toronto, New York, Hong Kong and Australian
securities exchanges together with Securities Regulation Panels in all these jurisdictions. Their personnel are also members
of the various regulatory bodies in South Africa that enable them to report to the SAMREC/SAMVAL Code under the
auspices of the South African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (SAIMM).

•

The valuation of the chrome resource at the Rooderand project was performed in accordance with the SAMVAL code and
is based on the market valuation approach (in reference to a database of mineral asset values used in the construction of
Venmyn’s valuation curves). Venmyn relied on the resource statement as set out in the 2011 Competent Persons Report
(the salient features of which appear in the Mineral Resources and Reserves Statement presented above) prepared by IRES.

•

The in-situ resource value range for the Cr2O3 content at an indicated mineral resource classification was estimated
between R35.18/tonne and R68.29/tonne. The value range for the exploration target is between R0.00/tonne and R1.00/
tonne. Based on this and the resource table in Section 8, Venmyn determined:

•

a “fair” (attributable) value for the project of R186.03m; and

•

an upper and lower value of R253.47m and R118.59m, respectively.
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Gain on bargain purchase
As a result of the valuation performed by Venmyn, a gain on bargain purchase was recognised as a result of the acquisition as
follows:
Total consideration transferred for Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd,
Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd, Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd

–

Fair value of identifiable net assets in Pilanesburg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd

151 310 742

Portion attributable to non-controlling interest

(36 182 589)
115 128 153

The gain on bargain purchase arose on the comparison of a R nil purchase consideration to the fair value of the identifiable
net assets in Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd and Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd, net of the portion
attributable to the non-controlling interest, amounting to R115 128 153.
The amount of profit or loss of the acquiree since the acquisition date included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income is disclosed in note 28 above. It is noted that these amounts would also apply as though the acquisition date had been at
the beginning of the annual period.
The amounts of revenue of the acquiree in the above instances amounted to R nil.

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
In November 2012, shareholders approved the acquisition of Rooderand related mineral assets from Nkwe Platinum SA (Pty) Ltd
and Realm Resources Limited. The assets acquired were:
•

geological data;

•

drill cores; and

•

PGM prospecting rights on the remainder extent of Rooderand.

Acquisition of the geological data and drill cores was expected to assist the company in upgrading its chromite mineral resources
and reserves statement.
In terms of the above transaction, a total of 20 million shares were issued to Nkwe Platinum SA (Pty) Ltd and Realm Resources
Limited in lieu of the acquisition of the geological data and drill cores. The fair value of the geological data and drill cores was
independently assessed at R18 700 000. The independent valuation was performed by Vermyn and fair value of the assets acquired
was determined by reference to the historical cost incurred by Nkwe Platinum SA (Pty) Ltd in relation to the geological data and drill
cores. Additionally, a further 70 million shares are to be issued to Nkwe Platinum SA (Pty) Ltd and Realm Resources Limited upon
the successful integration of the PGM rights on the remainder extent of Rooderand into the group’s current new order mining right
for chromite. The integration would be in terms of section 102 of the Minerals and Petroleum Development Act.
The table below summarises share based payments effected during the year ended 28 February 2013:

GROUP AND COMPANY

Shares issued in lieu of assets acquired
Fair value of intangible assets acquired
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-
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Shareholder analysis at
28 February 2013
Number of
shareholders

Percentage of
shareholders

Number of
shares

Percentage
of shares

Shareholder spread
1 – 1 000 shares

76

8.63

46 286

0.02

1 001 – 10 000 shares

357

40.57

1 866 090

0.91

10 001 – 99 999 shares

340

38.64

12 548 654

6.12

100 000 – 1 000 000 shares

90

10.23

26 018 387

12.70

1 000 000 shares and over

17

1.93

164 449 266

80.25

880

100.00

204 928 683

100.00

19

2.16

2 564 674

1.25

798

90.68

53 719 071

26.21

Nominees and trusts

22

2.50

3 981 620

1.94

Other corporations

16

1.82

89 196 546

43.53

Private companies

25

2.84

55 466 772

27.07

880

100.00

204 928 683

100.00

Directors (includes indirect shareholding)

4

0.45

38 952 732

19.01

Shareholders interested in 5% or more of issued
share capital (see page 27)

3

0.35

113 745 766

55.50

Public shareholders

873

99.20

52 230 185

25.49

Total

880

100.00

204 928 683

100.00

Total
Distribution of shareholders
Close Corporations
Individuals

Total
Non-public/public shareholders
Non-public shareholders
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
chrometco limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2002/026265/06)
Share code: CMO ISIN: ZAE000070249
(“Chrometco” or “the company”)
• Record date to receive the notice of Annual General Meeting is Friday, 21 June 2013
• Last date to trade to be eligible to vote is Friday, 28 June 2013
• Record date to eligible to vote is Friday, 5 July 2013
• Last date for lodging forms of proxy is Monday, 8 July 2013

Notice is hereby given:
That the annual general meeting of members of Chrometco will be held in the boardroom, at Computershare Investor Services (Pty)
Ltd, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg on Wednesday, 10 July 2013 at 10:00 to consider the business set out herein and if deemed
fit, to pass, with or without modification the ordinary and special resolutions set out below.

Memorandum of Incorporation
Until the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended (“Companies Act”) came into effect on 1 May 2011, the Memorandum of
incorporation (“MoI”) of the company comprised its memorandum and its articles of association. On the date that the Companies
Act came into effect, the memorandum and articles of association of the company automatically converted into the company’s
MoI. Accordingly, for consistency of reference in this notice of annual general meeting, the term “MoI” is used throughout to refer
to the company’s memorandum of incorporation (which comprised the company’s memorandum and its articles of association, as
aforesaid).

Ordinary business:
Ordinary resolution number 1: Presentation and adoption of annual financial statements
Resolved that the audited annual financial statements of the company and the group including the directors’ report, the report of
the Audit Committee and the report of the auditors for the financial year ended 28 February 2013 which are presented herewith, be
and are hereby received and adopted.
The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this resolution to be adopted is 50% of the voting rights plus one vote
to be cast on the resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 2: Re-appointment of auditors
To re-appoint RSM Betty & Dickson (Johannesburg) as independent auditors of the company (the designated auditor being Mr J
Jones) for the ensuing year, such auditors having been nominated by the company’s Audit Committee.
The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this resolution to be adopted is 50% of the voting rights plus one vote
to be cast on the resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 3: Re-election of directors
In terms of the company’s MoI, the following directors retire by rotation at the annual general meeting, but being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election and the ratification of directors:
•   Mr E Bramley;
•   Mr R Rossiter
Accordingly, shareholders are requested to consider and, if deemed fit, to re-elect the directors named above by way of passing the
separate ordinary resolutions set out below:
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Ordinary resolution number 3(a)
Re-election of E Bramley as director.
Resolved that E Bramley be and is hereby re-elected as a director of the company.

Ordinary resolution number 3(b)
Election of R Rossiter as director.
Resolved that R Rossiter be and is hereby re-elected as a director of the company.

Ordinary resolution number 4: Appointment of Audit Committee
To appoint individually the following independent non-executive directors to the Audit Committee (CV’s appear on page 3 of this report:

Ordinary resolution number 4(a)
Appointment of J G Scott as a member of the Audit Committee.

Ordinary resolution number 4(b)
Appointment of C Seabrooke as chairperson of the Audit Committee.

Ordinary resolution number 4(c)
Appointment of E Bramley as a member of the Audit Committee.

Ordinary resolution number 4(d)
Appointment of I Collair as a member of the Audit Committee.

Ordinary resolution number 4(e)
Appointment of R Rossiter as a member of the Audit Committee
A brief curriculum vitae of each director is available on page 3 of this integrated annual report.
The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this resolution to be adopted is 50% of the voting rights plus one vote
to be cast on the resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 5: General authority to issue shares for cash
Resolved that, in terms of the Listing Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”), the mandate given to the directors of the company in
terms of a general authority to issue shares for cash, as and when suitable opportunities arise, be renewed subject to the following
conditions:
1.

The general authority be valid until the company’s next annual general meeting, provided that it shall not extend beyond
fifteen months from the date of the passing of this ordinary resolution (whichever period is shorter).

2.

The allotment and issue of the shares must be made to public shareholders as defined in the Listing Requirements of
the JSE and not to related parties.

3.

The shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case,
must be limited to such shares or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue.

4.

The number of shares issued for cash in aggregate in any one financial year shall not exceed 50% (fifty percent) of the
company’s issued ordinary share capital. The number of ordinary shares which may be issued shall be based on the
number of ordinary shares in issue at the date of such application less any ordinary shares issued during the current
financial year, provided that any ordinary shares to be issued pursuant to a rights issue (announced, irrevocable and
fully underwritten) or acquisition (concluded up to the date of application including announcement of the final terms)
may be included as though they were shares in issue at the date of application.
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5.

The maximum discount at which ordinary shares may be issued is 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded
price of those shares over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between
the company and the party subscribing for the securities or any other price agreed to by the JSE.

6.

After the company has issued shares for cash which represent, on a cumulative basis within a financial year, 5% (five
percent) or more of the number of shares in issue prior to that issue, the company shall publish an announcement
containing full details of the issue (including the number of shares issued, the average discount to the weighted average
traded price of the shares over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed in
writing between the issuer and the party subscribing for the shares and the effect of the issue on net asset value, net
tangible asset value, earnings and headline earnings per share), or any other announcements that may be required in
such regard in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE which may be applicable from time to time.

In terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE, a 75% (seventy-five percent) majority of the votes cast by shareholders present or
represented by proxy at the general meeting, excluding the Designated Advisor and the controlling shareholders together with their
associates, must be cast in favour of ordinary resolution number 6 for it to be approved

Special resolution number 1: General authority to repurchase shares
Resolved in terms of the MoI of the company (or one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries) and section 48 of the Companies Act, that the
directors of the company be authorised, by way of a general authority, until this authority lapses at the next annual general meeting
of the company, provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the date of passing of this special resolution
(whichever period is the shorter), to acquire the company’s own shares, upon such terms and conditions and in such amounts as
the directors may from time to time decide, but subject to the Listings Requirements of the JSE, subject to the following terms and
conditions:
1.

Any repurchase of securities must be effected through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and done
without any prior understanding or arrangement between the company and the counter-party.

2.

At any point in time, the company may only appoint one agent to effect any repurchases on its behalf.

3.

The number of shares which may be repurchased pursuant to this authority in any financial year may not in the
aggregate exceed 20% (five percent) of the company’s issued share capital as at the date of passing of this general
resolution or 20% (twenty percent) of the company’s issued share capital in the case of an acquisition of shares in the
company by a subsidiary of the company.

4.

Repurchases of shares may not be made at a price greater than 10% (ten percent) above the weighted average of the
market value of the securities for the 5 (five) business days immediately preceding the date on which the transaction
was effected.

5.

Repurchases may not be undertaken by the company or any of its wholly-owned subsidiaries during a prohibited
period as defined in the Listings Requirements of the JSE unless a repurchase programme is in place where the dates
and quantities of securities to be traded during the relevant period are fixed and full details of the programme have been
disclosed in an announcement over SENS prior to the commencement of the prohibited period.

6.

After the company has acquired shares which constitute, on a cumulative basis, 3% (three percent) of the initial number
of shares in issue (at the time that authority from shareholders for the repurchase is granted) of the relevant class
of securities and for each 3% (three percent) in aggregate of the initial number of that class acquired thereafter, the
company shall publish an announcement containing full details of such repurchase.

7.

The company may not enter the market to proceed with the repurchase of its shares until the company’s Designated
Advisor has confirmed the adequacy of the company’s working capital for purposes of undertaking the repurchase of
shares in writing to the JSE.

8.

The board of directors have passed a resolution authorising the repurchase and that the company has passed the
solvency and liquidity test contained in section 4 of the Companies Act, and that since the test was done, there have
been no material changes to the financial position of the company.

		

The effect of the general resolution and the reason there for is to extend the general authority given to the directors
of the company or any subsidiary of the company in terms of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements
for the acquisition by the company or its subsidiaries of the company’s securities which authority shall be used at the
directors’ discretion during the course of the period authorised.

The effect of the general resolution and the reason there for is to extend the general authority given to the directors of the company
or any subsidiary of the company in terms of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements for the acquisition by the
company or its subsidiaries of the company’s securities which authority shall be used at the directors’ discretion during the course
of the period authorised.
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In accordance with the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited, the directors record that:
1.

They have no specific intention to repurchase shares, but would utilise the renewed general authority to repurchase
securities to serve our shareholders’ interests, as and when suitable opportunities present themselves, which
opportunities may require expeditious and immediate action.

2.

The directors, after considering the effect of the maximum number of securities which may be repurchased pursuant to
the general authority, are of the opinion that, for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of the general repurchase:

3.

•

the company and the group will be able to pay their debts in the ordinary course of business;

•

the consolidated assets of the company and of the group will be in excess of the liabilities of the company and
the group; the assets and liabilities being recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies
used in the latest audited group annual financial statements;

•

the share capital and reserves of the company and of the group are adequate for ordinary purposes; and

•

the working capital of the company and the group will be adequate for ordinary business.

The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this resolution to be adopted is 75% plus one vote to be
cast on the resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 6: Remuneration philosophy
To approve, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, the remuneration philosophy of the company as set out on page 20 of this
integrated annual report.
The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this resolution to be adopted is 50% of the voting rights plus one vote
to be cast on the resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 7: Authority to sign all documents required
“RESOLVED that, subject to the passing of ordinary resolutions 1 to 7 and special resolutions 1 to 3, any director of the company
or the Company Secretary be and is hereby authorised to sign all documents and perform all acts which may be required to give
effect to such ordinary resolutions 1 to 7 and special resolutions 1 to 3 passed at the annual general meeting; hereby ratifying and
confirming all such things already done and documentation already signed.”
In order for this ordinary resolution to be adopted, it must be supported by more than 50% of the votes cast by shareholders present
or represented by proxy at this meeting

Special resolution number 2: Approval of directors’ remuneration
Resolved that, in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, the company be authorised to pay a maximum amount of remuneration
to its non-executive directors for their services as directors as listed below:

Fees year ended
28 February 2014

Fees year ended
29 February 2013

Board chairman

R28 000

R32 000

Board member

R28 000

R32 000

Audit Committee chairman

R8 000

R8 000

Audit Committee member

R8 000

R8 000

Remuneration Committee chairman

R nil

R8 000

Remuneration Committee member

R nil

R8 000

The reason for special resolution 2 is to obtain shareholder approval by special resolution for directors’ remuneration for services as
directors in compliance with the Companies Act.
It is noted that the remuneration payable to directors in their capacities as such and does not include salaries and other benefits
payable to directors in other capacities.
The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this resolution to be adopted is 75% (seventy-five percent) of the voting
rights plus one vote to be cast on the resolution.
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Special resolution number 3: Financial assistance
Resolved as a special resolution, in terms of section 45 of the Act that the shareholders hereby approve of Chrometco providing, at
any time and from time to time during the period of 2 (two) years commencing on the date of this special resolution, any direct or
indirect financial assistance as contemplated in such section of the Act to any 1 (one) or more related or inter-related companies or
corporations of Chrometco provided that –
(a) (i) the recipient or recipients of such financial assistance, and (ii) the form, nature and extent of such financial assistance, and
(iii) the terms and conditions under which such financial assistance is provided, are determined by the board from time to
time; and
(b) ) the board may not authorise Chrometco to provide any financial assistance pursuant to this special resolution unless the
board meets all those requirements of section 45 of the Act which it is required to meet in order to authorise Chrometco to
provide such financial assistance; and
(c) such financial assistance to a recipient thereof is, in the opinion of the board, required for the purpose of (i) meeting all
or any of such recipient’s operating expenses (including capital expenditure), and/or (ii) funding the growth, expansion,
reorganisation or restructuring of the businesses or operations of such recipient, and/or (iii) funding such recipient for any
other purpose which in the opinion of the board is directly or indirectly in the interests of Chrometco.

Notifications
Shareholders are hereby notified in terms of Section 45(5) of the Companies Act that the Board has passed the same resolution
to take effect on the passing of this special resolution by shareholders and that the Board is satisfied that the company meets the
solvency and liquidity tests

Reason and effect
The reason for and effect of this special resolution is to allow Chrometco to grant direct or indirect financial assistance to any
company or corporation forming part of its group, including in the form of loans or the guaranteeing of their debts. This authority will
be in place for a period of two years from the date of adoption of this special resolution 3.
In terms of the Act, a special resolution must be approved by 75% of the voting rights exercised in respect of such special resolution,
provided that such voting rights are entitled to be exercised in respect of such special resolution.

Disclosures required in terms of paragraph 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements
The following additional information, some of which may appear elsewhere in this annual report is provided in terms of the JSE
Listings Requirements for purposes of the special resolution:
Directors of the company – page 3.
Major shareholders – page 27.
Directors’ interests in the company’s shares – page 27.
Company’s share capital – page 26.

Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors, whose names are given on page 3 of this annual report, collectively and individually, accept full responsibility for the
accuracy of the information pertaining to the above special resolution and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief,
there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading and that all reasonable enquiries
to ascertain such facts have been made and that the aforementioned special resolution contains all the information required by the
JSE.

Material change
Other than the facts and developments reported on in this annual report, there have been no material changes in the financial or
trading position of the company or its subsidiaries since the company’s financial year-end and the signature date of this annual
report.
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Litigation statement
Save for certain proceedings which have been threatened by DCM Chrome, which are set out below, there are no legal or arbitration
proceedings, including proceedings that are pending or threatened of which the group is aware, that may have or have had in the
recent past, being at least the 12 months prior to the date of this integrated annual report, a material effect on the group’s financial
position. DCM Chrome have indicated that they may elect to recover such amounts as paid in terms of the mining and management
agreement from Chrometco in the event that the general meeting convened on 6 July 2011, proceeded and the implementation
of the disposal agreement not be approved by shareholders. It is the view of the board, having regard to legal advice obtained in
this regard, that the claims of and proceedings threatened by DCM Chrome are without merit. The company is in the process of
proceeding with a claim of R10 million against DCM Chrome for amounts payable in terms of contractual arrangements.

Voting and proxies
A shareholder of the company entitled to attend, speak, and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or
proxies to attend, speak and on a poll vote in his stead. The proxy need not be a shareholder of the company. A form of proxy is
attached for the convenience of any certificated shareholder and own name registered dematerialised shareholder who cannot
attend the annual general meeting, but who wishes to be represented.
Additional forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from the company’s registered office. The completed forms of proxy
must be deposited at, posted or faxed to the transfer secretaries at the address set out below, to be received by no later than 10:00
on Monday, 8 July 2013.
Any member who completes and lodges a form of proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in person at the annual
general meeting should the member subsequently decide to do so.
On a show of hands, every shareholder of the company present in person or by proxy shall have 1 (one) vote only, irrespective of
the number of shares he holds or represents, provided that a proxy shall, irrespective of the number of members he represents have
only 1 (one) vote. On a poll, every shareholder of the company who is present in person or represented by proxy, shall have one vote
for every share held in the company by such shareholder.
Shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through a CSDP or broker, other than own name registered dematerialised
shareholders, and who wish to attend the annual general meeting must request their CSDP or broker to issue them with a Letter of
Representation. Alternatively dematerialised shareholders, other than own name registered dematerialised shareholders, who wish
to be represented, must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the custody agreement between them
and their CSDP or broker in the manner and by time-frame stipulated.
Any shareholder of the company that is company may authorise any person to act as its representative at the annual general
meeting. Please also note that section 63(1) of the Companies Act, requires that persons wishing to participate in the annual general
meeting (including the aforementioned representative) provide satisfactory identification before they may so participate.
Voting will be performed by way of a poll so that each shareholder present or represented by way of a poll so that each shareholder
present or represented by way of proxy will be entitled to vote the number of shares held or represented by him.
Equity securities held by a share trust or scheme will not have their votes at the annual general meeting taken into account for the
purposes of resolutions proposed in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.
Unlisted securities (if applicable) and shares held as treasury shares may not vote.
The last day to trade in order to be eligible to vote at the annual general meeting is Friday, 28 June 2013.
The record date in order to vote at the annual general meeting is Friday, 5 July 2013.
By order of the board

P J Cilliers
Managing Director
Johannesburg
25 May 2013
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CHROMETCO LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2002/026265/06)
Share code: CMO ISIN: ZAE000070249
(Chrometco or the company)

LIMITED

FORM OF PROXY

For use by the holders of the company’s certificated ordinary shares (“certificated shareholder”) and/or dematerialised ordinary shareholders
whose shares are held through a CSDP or broker and who have selected own name registration (“own name dematerialised shareholders”)
at the annual general meeting of the company to be held at the offices of Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, 70 Marshall Street,
Johannesburg, 2001 at 10:00 on Wednesday, 10 July 2013 and at any adjournment thereof.
Not for the use by holders of the company’s dematerialised ordinary shares who are not own name dematerialised shareholders. Such
shareholders must contact their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the annual general meeting and request that they
be issued with the necessary Letter of Representation to do so, or provide the CSDP or broker timeously with their voting instructions should
they not wish to attend the annual general meeting in order for the CSDP or broker to vote thereat in accordance with their instructions.

I/We .............................................................................................................................................(please print full names)
Of		
...................................................................................................................................................................(address)
being the holder(s)

N U M B E R

of ordinary shares in the company, hereby appoint:

1.

or failing him/her, .......................................................................................................................................................

2.

or failing him/her, .......................................................................................................................................................

3. the chairman of the annual general meeting,
as my/our proxy to attend and speak out and, on a poll, vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the company to
be held for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing the ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed thereat and at each
adjournment thereof, and to vote for and/or against and/or abstain from voting in respect of the ordinary shares in the issued share capital
of the company registered in my/our name/s in accordance with the following instructions:
Please indicate with an ”X” the appropriate space below how you wish your votes to be cast unless otherwise instructed my/our proxy may
vote as he/she thinks fit.
IN FAVOUR

AGAINST

ABSTAIN

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. Presentation and adoption of the annual financial statements for the year ended
28 February 2013
2. To re-appoint RSM Betty & Dickson (Johannesburg) as independent auditors of the company
(the designated auditor being Mr J Jones).
3. (a) To re-elect E Bramley as a director
(b) TTo appoint R Rossiter as a director
(c) To appoint I Collair as a director
4. (a) To appoint Mr J G Scott as a member of the Audit Committee
(b) To appoint Mr C Seabrooke as a member of the Audit Committee
(c) To appoint Mr E Bramley as a member of the Audit Committee
(d) To appoint Mr I Collair as a member of the Audit Committee
(e) To appoint Mr R Rossiter as a member of the Audit Committee
5. General authority to issue shares for cash
6. Remuneration philosophy
SPECIAL BUSINESS
1. General authority to repurchase shares
2. Approval of directors’ remuneration
3. Financial assistance
A member entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and, on a poll, vote
in his stead. A proxy so appointed need not be a member of the company.
Signed at.................................................................................................................................................. on................................ 2012
Signature......................................................................................................................................................
Assisted by....................................................................................................................................................................... (if applicable)
Please read the notes on the reverse.
tascom

NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY
1. This form of proxy is to be completed only by those members who are:
• holding shares in certificated form; or
• recorded in the sub-register in electronic form in their “own name”.
2. A shareholder may insert the name or names of two alternative proxies of his choice in the space provided, with or without
deleting “the chairman of the annual general meeting”. The person whose name appears first on this form of proxy and
who is present at the annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.
Any such proxy, who need not be a shareholder of the company, is entitled to attend, speak and vote on behalf of the
shareholder.
3. A proxy is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote for each share held. A shareholder’s instructions
to the proxy must be indicated in the appropriate space.
4. If a shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that the proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to
abstain from voting or gives contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution/s or any amendment/s which may
be properly put before the annual general meeting be proposed, the proxy shall be entitled to vote as he thinks fit. Forms of
proxy must be lodged at, posted to or faxed to the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, Ground
Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) to reach the company by no later than
10:00 on Monday, 8 July 2013.
5. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of the person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity
must be attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the
chairman of the annual general meeting.
6. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy does not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual
general meeting and speaking and voting in person to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms of this form of proxy.
7. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.
8. The chairman of the annual general meeting may accept or reject any form of proxy, which is completed and/or received,
other than in accordance with these notes, provided that the chairman shall not accept a proxy unless the chairman is
satisfied as to the manner in which a member wishes to vote.
9. Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares must inform their CSDP or broker of their intention to attend the annual
general meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary Letter of Representation to attend the
annual general meeting or provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the
annual general meeting in person but wish to be represented thereat. This must be done in terms of the agreement entered
into between the members and their CSDP or broker.
10. Please note that, in terms of section 58(3) of the Companies Act:
• the appointment of a proxy is revocable unless the proxy appointment expressly states otherwise. If the appointment
of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by cancelling it in writing, or making a
later inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and to the
company. The revocation will take effect on the later of: (i) the date stated in the revocation instrument or (ii) the date on
which the revocation instrument was delivered to the proxy and the company.
• a proxy may delegate his authority to act on your behalf to another person, subject to any restriction set out in this form
of proxy.
• a proxy must be delivered to the company, or to the transfer secretaries of the company, namely Computershare Investor
Services (Pty) Ltd, before your proxy exercises any of your rights as a shareholder at the annual general meeting.
The last day to trade in order to be eligible to vote at the annual general meeting is Friday, 28 June 2013.
The record date in order to vote at the annual general meeting is Friday, 5 July 2013.

tascom

